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1 August 1947, Friday, 

I worked about 12 hours in field work today because I had s everal inter-

views, and 1 had to wait until 6i00 p.m. for one of them. Then I put in about 

three hours typing up the reoords here at home so that I woul d not get too far 

behind. The students at PI are beginning to rebel at the amo unt of work we 

have to do for nothing sinoe we never get any time to do muo h of our olass work« 

and we think that it is very unfair sinoe the other student placements are not 

like this. We are supposed to be appreciative beoause the PI h as the reputation 

of being the best field placement in the school. It is very i nteresting work 

and I think that I am learning a lot but I don't want to be marr ied to the place. 

Too many of the school instructors and supervisors are si ngle old maids and they 

don't believe in anyone having any social relaxation. 

Leilani is having her financial troubles. She has to live on $ 200amonth 

from her father in Hawaii and she just isn't able to do it. I h ad to lend her 

lunch money today. I suggested that maybe she should modify her manner of living 

sinoe she was not a sooialite but a sooial work student an d after she got a job 

she couldn't expeot on her present scale and get by. Leila ni is very antagonistic 

to woman sooial workers and she doesn't assooiate with th em too muoh. I told 

her that many of my patients call me  n Doo" and she said she had the same experience 

onoe and a nurse got sore beoause the nurses think they are s uperior to sooial 

workers too. Suoh a social-professional olass status in th at placet I oan't 

ignore Yuriko, especially when we have gone along for almos t 11 mo. without an 

argument. 
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because she Is a remarkably adjustable creature, and it is no wonder that I love 

her so much* I don't know how she puts up with me though, but she thinks that 

we understand each other and are happy so that's good* W e always have a good 

time when we go out on a date* 

Confidential« 

Ve got over to the hostel about eight last night, and stoppe d at the cleaning 

shop far a time to give Mr, M, the lunch to take tomorrow a nd to find out if 

Joannie was still resisting the whole idea, Ve call him Dou glas now and not by 

the more formal title sinoe he has dropped in our estimat ion but he doesn't 

know it. Yuriko and I decided before we got there that we w ould try hard to 

make Joannie feel more confortable about the whole thin g because she could throw 

a monkey wrench into the whole works if she keeps on putting the pressure on 

Douglas* Joannie was very embarrassed while we were in t he shop, and I wanted 

to talk to her, but Douglas said that he had done so and thi ngs were now all right, 

I said I was also going to Mrs, A, since she seemed to be lab oring under some 

sort of misunderstanding about our Interest in Douglas at  the present time* 

Douglas got alarmed, and led us to think that he had been telling us another line 

just to use the Azawa family as a front to get out of the whole situation* Douglas 

aoted very strangely about the whole thing so we decided not to embarrass him no 

further. 

We talked to Mrs, A, for quite a time at the hostel and explai ned why it 

was neoessary for Douglas to see Mrs, M, once in a while  sinoe it would be too 

upsetting for her to find out that she was completely out of t he picture and 

might lead to another suicidal attempt* Mrs* A, appeare d to be very concerned 

about Mrs, M* She said that she had a similiar reaction when she first came to 

NIC about three years ago and was very depressed for abo ut three months» Mrs, A 

said that Douglas and Joannie want to have a baby right away , and hinted that was 

why they were trying so hard to avoid any farther joint re sponsibility tut that 
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3 August 1947.  Th urs day. 

The weekend is almost over, and I do not feel rested at all. I th ink 

that I need more sleep, but I feel overwhelmed by the things I m ust do, 

espeoially olass papers. I didn't get started at all beoau se field work took 

so muoh of ny time. I got up at eight yesterday morning and w alked down to the 

Civil Servioe office in order to get an application blank f or the V.A., but the 

office was closed. On the way back I did some shopping and got a ham for Yuriko 

to bake for the lunohe s. Yuriko completed the shopping and w orked on Mr. M's 

lunch, while I went up to the Psyohiatrio Institute to int erview a couple of 

parents. It took me most of the afternoon and I didn't ge t the records written 

up until just a little while ago* The parents of Richard are s o hurt beoaute 

their geni us son had to bet emotionally ill with schizop hrenia when they were 

expecting a brilliant career. I think they feel more sorry fo r themselves than 

the boy. I think that so many Jewish individuals break down be oause they are to 

high strung in the family life and often overly ambitious  so they don*t develop 

a normal life. We get a lot of superior brains for the count ry as a  result,  but 

there is also a heavy toll in mental breakdowns. It is a ver y diffioult thing 

to help the parents and relatives accept these illnesses, and the more guilt 

feelings they have the more they project the oauses of the i llness. I must like 

the work if I am orasy enough to go up on Saturday to do intervi ewing, but it 

really was an unavoidable situation* 

About four, I rushed down to the Thalia Theater on 97th to me et  ftiriko  and 

I got there the exact minute she did. One thing about her is th at she never 

keeps me waiting around, and most of the time she is more pro mpt than I am. We 

enjoyed the English film, "Stars Looked Down 1* but did not get too enthusiastio 

about the Russian one, "ChapayeV*. Yuriko said it moved a long too smoothly like 

a Japanese  film.  .After the movie we went to a oafeteria to get a bite to eat. I 

told Yuriko that I was a student and couldn't take her to a f ancier plaoe, and she 

entered into the spirit of the thing. Yuriko just doesn*t  complain about anything 
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4 August 1947, Monday« 

I was so tired when I oame home from field work, but Yurik o prepared a wonder-

ful and exoiting dinner so it cheered me up. We have to g o over to the hostel to-

night to pa ok some of Mrs. M»s things for her so I shall forg et the books for another 

evening. My field work was very strenuous, but fortunat ely I was able to write up 

all of my oases before I oame home so that I am up to date with my work. 

I had an interesting interview with one of the 19 year old p atients in the 

hospital today. He is a schisophrenic oase, probably due to his overproteotive 

and anxious mother. He hates his parents, he loves his s ister and has incestuous 

ideas about her. The patient has fears that he is not a ma n so that he always holds 

his penis and sometimes he gives the nurses a thrill by taking it out and fondling 

it before them and asking if they want it. The patient was te lling me today that 

he had all sorts of fantaoies about killing people and he go t the impulse quite 

often these days. He said that he would like to smash a face  to pulp and then pick 

the eyes out and do all sorts of gruesome things. He said  he had the impulse even 

now. This got me worried because I was in a looked room with him, and he was a 

big boy, but I tried to be oalm and not let him know that I was slightly apprehensive. 

Hereafter, I shall not look the door. Usually this typ e of oase will not commit 

any aggressive acts, but it has been known to happen. He told me that he oould read 

everyone^ mind and they were all thinking that he was crat y, and he asked me if I 

thought that he was too. I told him that if I thought he we re, I would not be up 

in the ward talking to him. The dootor told me that  tiie  prognoses was not too good 

beoause the illness was so deep rooted. At that, the relati ves of the boy are harder 

to talk to then him beoause they just cannot accept the illnes s and they reveal all 

sorts of guilt feelings and anxiety states of mind. Som e of these relatives should 

be in the hospital instead of their children. 

At our seminar, we discussed thefinal party plans. It wil l be on Thursday the 

28th and I may not be able to bring Yuriko as she teaches t hat evening. I would 

like to take Yuriko out more often but I seemed to be so  tied down these days. 
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However $  Yuriko never complains and she is always busy all evening * She tries not 

to disturb me 9 and when I fall asleep she oomes in and wakes me up and in sists 

that I continue with the studies for the specified period o f time* It is nioe to 

hare a wife who oan also aot as my oonsoienoe. Yuriko is bu sy now oomposing the 

theme for her danoes this fall* She is going to have musio c omposed for two pieoes* 

and it will oost about #200« When I mentioned that this w as pretty expensive music» 

Yuriko said, "You know how much Martha pays for her  music?.• ••.$2000!"  I guess 

dancers judge their success in terms of how much they pa y for the musio composed 

for their dances. I told Yuriko that I didn't care how she d id her danoes as long 

as she tried to keep within the $500 agreed upon for her o onoert* It's too bad that 

dancers have to starve so much just to save money in ord er to have a concert» but 

it gives pleasure to Yuriko and I certainly have no right to ask her not to do it 

any more than she has a right to tell me what kind of wo rk to do* Yuriko says that 

I am very understanding* It must be love* 
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Confidential.' 

We went over to the hostel last night in order to pack some of Mrs. M's 

belongings. While waiting for Douglas to oome from the ol eaning shop I talked 

with Peter Aoki who was busy trying to olear up the hostel bo oks, whioh apparently 

had been left in quite a mess. Peter expressed his sympathy f or Mrs. M»s "nervous 

breakdown" and he was very indignant that Douglas would run  off with Joanie and 

leave Mrs. M. without any seourity at suoh an advanoed age . Peter said that Douglas 

had told the ohuroh board that he had provided adequately for Mrs. M. and Peter 

thought that was little compensation for all the worries she went through. Peter 

was amased when I told him that actually Douglas had not provi ded adequately and it 

was all promises and it made me sore that Douglas would tr y to paint suoh a bright 

pioture. 

It was then that I found out about what Mr. M. had done with the last oheok. 

Peter said that there had been a shortage of #160 in the book s whioh they were 

able to oheok up on, and there was no telling how muoh more the  oash income had 

been tampered with by Mr. . Peter said that Mr. Muller had de manded Douglas to 

replaoe the $160 immediately. Then, Douglas said that the o huroh board oould have 

the 16 sacks of rioe whioh was worth over $200, but Mr. Mulle r refused to aooept 

this sinoe he considered it another situation entirely. S o the last oheok had been 

used to repay the hostel deficit. 

It burnt me up plenty because Douglas had told us that he had u sed Mrs. M.'s 

share of the last oheok to buy the rioe back from the ohuroh board, a damn lie. 

Yuriko oould not believe that Douglas would try to cheat an ill woman like that, 

beoause he had not told us a thing about the defioit. Peter th ought I should tell 

Douglas off, but I said that a oalmer method might be bette r, even though we had 

been disappointed so many times in him. From what Peter told us, it now seems that 

Douglas has been cheating on his wife all along on the rioe de al. About the time 

of the first talks of separation, Douglas had taken out $600 from their aooount whioh 
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he said had to be returned to the ohuroh board, but -they don vt know anything 

about this* A short time after that, Douglas used about $ 600 of their savings 

to buy a ton of rioe, and he olaimed that he had sold it to the ohuroh board-

but the money was never plaoed baok into the savings and we di dn't know too 

muoh about these finanoial dealings because we had not ass umed any responsibility 

for Mrs« It's finanoial affairs at that time« Then, last wee k, Douglas used the 

$100 to "buy 1* baok the rioe, which he apparently already owned« So, act ually 

it seems that he has triple crossed Mrs« M« on the rioe bus iness, and about 

$1,000 has not been accounted for« Now, he apparently beli eves that he will 

sell the remaining amount of the rioe quietly and keep the mo ney for himself« 

I told Peter that half of the rioe money already belonged to Mrs. M because of 

the original investment, and $100 more had been added last week from the June 

payoheok so that aotually Mrs« M was entitled to the entire a mount realised 

from the rioe sale« The Churoh Board is thinking of buying i t to send for over-

seas relief since the hostel could not possibly use it up, but they are not sure 

that the rioe belongs to Mr« M since he oannot produce a sales slip to show that 

he bought it with his own money« Douglas oertainly did some funny maneuvering 

with the hostel money, and our earlier suspicions were appar ently oorreot« 

Peter said that he would discuss the matter with Mr« Muller , but I don 1t know 

if I can get the rioe money for Mrs« M or not« 

v 

I mentioned that the ohuroh board wanted the sales slip to Mr« M«, but 

he was so disturbed about something else that I did not pres s him too muoh« 

He gave a very unsatisfactory explanation* and he obviousl y was most embarrassed 

that I had found out the truth« He said that the rioe was h is but he could 

not find the sales slip, but he did not admit that he had li ed to us earlier 

about selling it to the hostel« It seems that he has told so m any lies about 

the finanoes that he oannot possibly get his story straight , and he merely vent 

his anger at the Churoh Board for persecuting him, and sa id that it was oheap 
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m 

because it had not evin sent a card of sympathy for Mrs. M. He t ried to enlist 

our sympathy by doing this« but I didn't oomment* I hope that h e does not sell 

the rioe to another store now because it will be hard as h ell to get the money 

from him) he spends it for other things onoe he gets his hands u pon it* The 

difficult part of the whole matter is that he has a hold upo n us in view of the 

faot that we have to trust him with the cleaning shop books« a nd after what 

happened with the hostel books I am sure that he is doin g some manipulating again 

because the dividends for the past three weeks were much too small* Mr. M. 

explains this away by saying that the business went down w hile he was gone« and 

we can't do muoh about it because we don't have the time to g o over there all the 

time to oheok on the gross inoome* Douglas oould make the book s balance easily 

enough by some manipulation and we wouldn't know anything about it* Yuriko and 

I just hope that he will have the deoenoy to give Mrs* M her just share of the 

cleaning shop inoome after this* 

I phoned Mr* Muller this morning to find out about the rio e business and 

got a similar story as Peter told me. Mr. Muller said that Do uglas had agreed 

to let Mr«* M. have the entire final oheok in view of the fa ot that she had re-

mained on the job while he took a vacation from the hostel jo b so that Douglas 

had no business in telling Yuriko that the $100 "borrowed" f rom the June oheok 

oould be deducted from the final check* The way that man ma nipulates around is 

amasing«-and the faot that he is pressed for ready cash is n o excuse* Mr* Muller 

said that he would oheok on the matter but didn't know if th e ohuroh board will 

buy the rioe or not* He oertainly was disgusted with Mr* M* 

Yuriko and I naturally are very suspioious about what ha ppened to the rest 

of the savings which Mr* and Mrs* M* had. They had sold their p roperty in 

California for about |4000 and had half of this amount when t hey resettled to 

NYC late in 1946* Mrs. M. didn't spend any money on herself« but Douglas kept 

I 
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putting it into business ventures. About $1000 was inyob ted in the first 

cleaning shop» and after several months it was sold for $ 2000 so that the 

M's should have had roughly $5000 in all, plus any saving s from the hostel 

salary whioh was $200 olear eaoh month* Then $1250 was in vested in the second 

cleaning shop» and it was about this time that Mr. M* said that they had no more 

ready oash* The big question now is what oame of the $1 760 minimum whioh they 

should have had. We now suspeot that Douglas drew it out o f the bank quietly 

sinoe Mrs* M. knew nothing about financial affairs and put it in another account* 

or maybe in Joannie's aooount. We think that this explai ns the mysterious $600 

he said he had to put back in the hostel aooount» and the $500 for the ton of 

rice whioh he never replaced but apparently sold by the sa ok to the hostel* We 

think that this was the reason why he was so willing to le t the cleaning shop be 

changed to Mrs* M's name and the $760 debt from  llr*  Kinoshita be owed to her* 

In other words» Douglas slyly put away over $1760 into his hi dden aooount and 

Mrs* M. didn't know anything about it because she was t oo disraught about other 

worries at this time. We think that Douglas used his ill g otten money to take 

Joanie to California by plane» and the rast of it he put o n a down payment on the 

oar he ordered and the four acres of land he bought in Lo ng Island recently• 

Joanie doesn't have any money as she often said she was bro ke* The sad thing 

about all this is that we can't do muoh about it because we don't have any written 

reoords» and Turiko had no reason to think that he would cheat Mrs. M* So now, 

Mrs* M. ends up with $190 in the bank and a promissory note f rom Mr. Kinoshita 

for $760 and a half interest in the shop. Pretty sad, I wo uld say. Yuriko said 

that Mrs. M. onoe spent up $5000 of her savings to get Dou glas out of another 

sorape with a oleaners in Los Angeles when a lot of money was missing so that 

this apparently is not the first time he has done such a  thing. But, we don't 

have positive proof and we know he would never admit it. Y uriko and I now take 

the position that there must be a spark of decency left in Mr.  M. and if he comes 
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through with all of his promises ret care of Mrs. M. after ( ?) she gets out 

of the hospital» then we will give hi« the benefit of the do ubt now and continue 

and oontinue to trust him in the management of the oleanin g shop* and just hope 

that he will follow through upon his ready verbalisation* It 's about the only 

thing we oan do in view of the faot that we don't have any p roof* Douglas 

destroyed all old letters addressed to Mr. and Mrs. M. so he m ust suspeot that 

we might try some legal aotion sometime« but that is only a speculation. 

Peter also told me that he had gone through the hostel books a nd found that 

Joanie and Kimi had never paid for room and board at the ho stel* Seme more of 

Douglas's manipulation of the  books I  No wonder Mrs* M. always used to be so 

worried about the kitohen bills and oall the girls "ooof croaohesJoanie and 

Kimi never ate any of the food prepared for the hostel people» but ate steaks 

and other foods oooked individually, Peter said he didn't kn ow what he would 

do about it« Just to make Douglas a bit uncomfortable I casu ally mentioned that 

Peter is wondering about who pays for Joanie and Kimi» and Do uglas got all upset 

and said that they always bought their own food» as if we woul d believe that. 

Yuriko had to go into the other room and laugh privately at the way I was baiting 

Douglas on. It is hard to get angry with Douglas because he al ways tells some 

beautiful lies te oover up another lie he ie oaught in» and th e hostel business 

is none of our affairsj we just want justice for Mrs. M. 

Peter said that he planned to fire Mrs. A. at the end of the m onth because 

it was not praotioal paying her a salary for oooking for only  8 people onoe a day, 

but he thought she would interpret it as a revenge motive. Pe ter and Mr. Muller 

has ordered Douglas and Joanie to get the hell out of the host el and they are 

getting a fourth notioe today. Douglas was so mad at the w ay the church 

board was "mistreating" him, and I aoted like a social wor ker by accepting his 

feelings instead of telling him that it served him right a nd what did he expect. 
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Douglas said that Mrs. A will go into domestio work» and he  will move into 

an apartment with Joanie and Kimit Ah-ha, the makings of anot her trianglell 

Douglas said that he would move into the baok of the shop unt il they found 

a plaoe as he was anxious to get out of the hostel where he was n ot appreciated* 

I had to go into the bathroom and laugh privately at that one It 

I didn't tell Douglas off about the rioe deal and how he work ed both ends 

against the middle beoause he was so upset about the vis it to the hospital on 

Sunday* He seemed to be sincere in his shook« and it has final ly dawned upon 

him how ill Mrs* M. really is* He thought that Mrs. M. just had to reoover from 

her wounds 9 and I doubt if he still has any oonoeption of what a men tal illness 

involves* I tried to prepare him for it the other week» bu t it didn't sink in 

until he saw Mrs* M* He said with tears in his eyes that he fel t so sorry for 

her when he saw how sad she was, and he wanted to take her out o f the hospital 

immediately as he did not think it was a good atmosphere fo r her* We pointed 

out to him how impraotioal this was sinoe Mrs* M, was il l and needed treatment* 

I told him of some of my experiences at P*I* and how diffiou lt it was for 

relatives to aooept an illness of this sort* Douglas said that Mrs. M* was hearing 

aoousatory voioes now, didn*t smile at all, was very depress ed, said that people 

stole everything she had, that they talked about her and s o forth. It didn't 

sound like the depression was being modified at all* 

Douglas suddenly got full of self remorse, and we let him suff er without 

giving him any assurance for a while as we thought it was goo d for his soul* 

Douglas said that Mrs. M. had told him that perhaps she wou ld not have gotten 

ill if we had taken her in, and this got a rise out of Yuriko as s he said, "Now 

listen here, Douglas, don't go trying to say we caused her il lness as you know 

very well what caused her to break down.* Before they coul d get into any hot 

words* I stepped in and cooled them down and pointed out tha t they would both be 
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hearing a lot of thing« from Mr«. M. from now on and that she  would complain 

excessively, but they both had to understand that she was il l. Yuriko told 

Mr, M. how her mother had oome over here several times, but  always insisted 

upon going back to the hostel. Douglas thought it was becau se she dicta 1t want 

the hostel safe to be robbed. I told him that the illness was well underway 

by the time he went to Los Angeles but we didn't recognise it a s such because 

Mrs* M. never said too muoh to us. 

Douglas again got very remorseful, and said that he knew how b adly Mrs. M. 

felt about the Joannie affair and he would never have gone to L. A. if he had 

known. Then, he apparently felt that he was revealing too muo h guilt feeling 

as he began to projeot and lay the blame of illness on to ev aouation and the 

hostel difficulties. We let him go on, and I would nudge Turi ko not to say 

anything because I wanted him to get all of his guilt feeling s out. Douglas 

said that maybe Mrs. M. could oome out and live in the back of th e cleaning 

shop« but we said that was impossible. The visit to Pilgrim m ust have been a 

big shook because Douglas has never seen a mental institutio n of this sort from 

the inside before. He said that he must do something, and re peated all of his 

promises he had made about being responsible for her. 

When we asked how Joannie looked at the situation now* Do uglas said that 

she still didn't like the idea of him visiting Mrs. M. eve ry other week as she 

couldn't have him away that long. (She went up with him and re mained outside 

while he visited). Douglas thought that it would be best t o send Mrs. M. to 

Japan after she was ready enough to oome out, and wondered if it would be in 

about six months. I said that I didn't know, even the psychi atrists didn't 

know, and Mrs. M. may get better or worse, but Douglas and Yu riko should be 

prepared for anything. If she gets worse, Douglas and Yuri ko might blame the 

hospital for it, but they must remember that Mrs. M. is ver y ill and these things 

are not oured in a hurry, I said. Yuriko understands this, b ut Douglas doesn't 

too well. He said that maybe we didn't have to tell Mrs. M.  that he got married 
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to Joannie if he oould take her to Japan« but we said that she has to be prepared 

to face the truth prior to getting out» but we oould talk abou t that later when 

we find out if she is improving* Douglas said that in about a year, he would be 

making money on his landsoaping and from the fertiliser busi ness so that he oould 

fly Mrs. M. to Japan and resettle her there with relatives an d it would be easy 

to support her* Then Douglas said that he was building his ho use next spring« 

and if Mrs* M. was well enough by then he would bring her there * We asked what 

was Joannie going to think about that» and he said that sh e would just have to 

understand« and if she dicki't she oould separate from him b eoause he had  n this 

moral to do and I will do it no matter what Joannie says*' 1 Gad, if he says things 

about moving Mrs* A in to Joannie« it*s not any wonder that she reaots in the 

way she  does I  Douglas makes suoh fine promises and he sounded sinoerely remorseful« 

but we don't know how deep it goes beoause he has said things l ike that before and 

that didn't stop him from doing damn fool impulsive things * We figure that as 

long as he oontinues the hospital visits« we must give him t he benefit of the doubt 

and believe him even if he is a oharming liar beoause it is essential for Mrs* M's 

improvement that he oontinues the visits* It does his soul good to have those 

terrific guilt feelings« and I shall let him suffer for a whi le before reassuring 

him that no individual causes mental illnesses of others ex aotly* 

We paoked Mrs* M's belongings until about midnight« but she had pitifully 

few belongings* Douglas wanted to use the furniture pieoe s and blankets for his 

apartment so we let him have it* We wouldn't find any valuabl e things around and 

Yuriko didn't know what happened to them unless Douglas r emoved them previously* 

That is why we took the ohime alarm olook for Mrs* M* Actuall y, Mrs* M. had more 

things piled up to send to Japan than personal belongings, and we will send some 

of that stuff for her* The rest of the personal belongings wi ll be stored in the 

baok of the shop* 
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Yurilco is teaching danoing until nine this evening so I ha ve a ohanoe 

to do some typing* I ran around part of the morning to get an  application 

form for a V.A. sooial worker job« and when I got to sohool I discovered that 

they had forms there. I was further ohagrined to find a note f rom the registrar 

saying that I had to take an extra quarter of field work* T his would have meant 

one more quarter in sohool, and I got very anxious about it* After a great deal 

of running around, whioh consumed most of the afternoon an d involved cutting of 

olasses, I learned to my great relief that I would be given cre dit for field 

work due to experience in camp and in the Army so that I will be able to finish 

in the Fall after all* 

My troubles became minor when I went to Philosophy olass and learned that 

Miss Pollaok had died suddenly from an emergency operatio n* Last week, she was 

discussing so eloquently about the role of sooial workers in seeking sooial change, 

and now that is all past for her* Her death was taken rathe r oasually by the 

olass, and nobody seemed to miss her muoh* It hit me wit h a terrifio impact be-

cause it made me realise that one life is not worth very mu oh, and only the 

immediate olose relatives and friends miss one very muoh* Ou r discussion on the 

phil osophy of life had more meaning for me, but X couldn't fi gure out the answer* 

I don't know what it is all about and I don't think that I hav e made any important 

contributions to the world* I just live in it and worry abou t making a living, 

and have a hell of a time being happy in love because of the pre ssures of the 

realistic world whioh insists that one must work at a reg ular job to be useful 

to society* It makes one wonder sometimes, but I guess I shou ld not get cynical 

because Yuriko is enough reason for wanting to amount to some thing in this mad 

materialistic world and give my ten oents worth of contribu tion toward the better-

ment of the human species in this country* Students ruin th eir health in the 

dumb sohool and get all sorts of nervous conditions beca use they don't seem to be 

able to relax enough and have a sense of humor about living* S lawson said that 
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he was on the verge of an anxiety breakdown because he oould n't sleep at 

nights and he worried constantly about getting through the school• I think 

some of the vets at sohool are more fearful of failure in ol asses than any 

oombat they faoed. I just take the attitude that I will pas s and it has been 

•uooessful so far* I have two term papers to write befor e the 22nd so 1 should 

start working on them Saturday* 
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Our seminar met at the International Institute this mornin g to listen to 

Miss Dorothy Campbell tell us about the philosophy and fu notion of the organi-

sation* The basio interest is in the foreign born, but many  of the looals 

have taken an interest in the seoond and third generation. The Institute used 

nationality sooial workers and it is attempting to develo p more and more of a 

trained staff. Miss Campbell told us about some of the wor k with the war brides» 

the group aotivities with oultural groups and so forth* Sh e said that sometimes 

they tended to spread the interest out too far» and in some ar eas the politicians 

took advantage of the foreign for voting purposes and enoo uraged raoial blocks* 

The primary objective is to help the foreign born make adjus tments» then it 

tries to break down segregation patterns. The overall phi losophy is toward 

oultural pluralism. It believes that diversity is basio t o the philosophy of 

demooraoy» but realises that some groups have chauvinistic leaders who are not 

as interested in the oultural appreciation as furthering support for the "mother-

land." Miss Campbell said that this was one of their biggest p roblems. We 

had quite a discussion on how to achieve integration of a p erson within a frame* 

work of oultural pluralism» and Miss Campbell said that the International Institute 

had not worked this out yet. She said that it was muoh too bus y with facilitating 

in every possible way the successful orientation of new oom ers to this country 

to stop the whole program to thrash this dilemma out* It was h er feeling that 

they would eventually arrive at an answer in time» and if the immigration laws 

oould be ohanged there would not be so muoh stress in trying to make everyone 

alike* I felt that making everyone alike was not the problem» but how muoh 

differenoe should be stressed? Miss Campbell did not know» but believed that by 

promoting the suooessful sooial integration of old and new Americans into our 

oommon life» we would be moving forward* I agreed with that » but felt that the 

International Institute in dealing with reoent transplant ed people sort of lost 
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sight of this goal, and Miss Campbell said this was true i n a way, but they 

always tried to work within the goals of the general phi losophy. Brill said 

that he thought the goal was the cultural acceptance into th e American way of 

life, while Miss Hurlbutt felt that the goal was to seek to de velop appreciation 

of the rich heritage reoeived from all racial groups* We were all agreed as to 

the general goal, but there was a difference in opinion as to the best way to 

aohieve it* We oonoluded that it was imported to give newco mers a sense of 

security in new surroundings so that they would feel that th ey "belonged, 1* and 

at the same time to "teach 1* Americans to be tolerant and aooepting* Miss Campbell 

said that the 1*1* tried to practice the faith that eaoh fo reign born person was 

important to the development of Amerioan democracy—the un derlying oonviotion 

being that all people are just One World* Miss Campbell aft erwards told me that 

some of the Nisei groups in the Mid-West, although native A mericans, were the 

most diffioult to guide in this direction because of thei r sensitivity and the 

faot that the "leaders" feel threatened if there is any m ove to break up any 

developing segregated patterns—which went back to some of t he original points 

I had raised in the meeting* 

After olasses I went to the civil service and submitted my ap plication for 

a V*A* sooial worker job, and 1 was told that there were fe w openings in NYC 

but the names would be plaoed on file—not very encouragin g* Afterwards I came 

home and napped until Yuriko arrived* 
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The field work is piling up on me and I remained in the offioe u ntil 

about six in order to oatoh up* One of the things whioh both ers me is that 

I don't think I am getting too muoh out of the supervision e ven though 

Miss Heyman tries to aot nice. It seems to me that she is too art ificial* 

She always has one of those fake smiles on her faoe and it is ve ry sadistio 

looking* It has been said around the offioe that she is very pu nishing of 

the male students beoause of some of her own unknown  frustrations»  and I 

think that this is true* In my oonferenoes with her* I notioe  that she tries 

to make me uncomfortable as hell and I don't like the teohniq ues she uses* She 

gets irritated beoause I am more oautious about using the ps yohoanalytioal 

orientation with some of the patients* I try to be as passi ve as hell with her« 

but it is extremely difficult and I know that it will be the us ual uncomfortable 

conference tomorrow* At the same time» there are greater pr essures upon me be-

oause of the fact that my sooial worktraining has been so b roken up and I haven't 

been properly conditioned to the approaoh of the NY Schoo l* It feels that anyone 

who does not follow their particular teohniques in casewor k is Ignorant and there 

isn't muoh I can do about that* 

Kenny dropped over for dinner as he was waiting for Kimi who was visiting 

someone in the Village* Kenny will be through the school at t he end of the 

month» and he is extremely worried about the job situati on* He said that he 

had a couple of leads but they did not pay very much* It was his impression that 

there aotually weren't as many jobs as people talked abo ut» and he thinks that 

he may go out of the city for a job* He mentioned one possibi lity in a state 

reform school* Kimi does not particularly oare if they leav e the city» and Kenny 

feels that he has to widen the range of job prospects sinoe the re seems to be 

more openings outside of the city* He said that the school placement bureau has 

not been able to help him at all* The thing whioh upsets him i s when he is 

politely told that there are no openings even before he oan p resent his qualifications 
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and later he finds out that other students were lent lette rs to come for an 

interview. Kenny said that he was trying to be -very object ive and to keep 

"raoe" out of it, but sometimes it was pretty obvious that bei ng a Nisei hurt 

his ohanoes. We discussed for some time how sooial agencies o ould be this way, 

and I was surprised to learn that even in NYC this sort of v icious practice 

does go on. Naoko had mentioned the same thing to me previou sly. It is 

pretty disgusting, but unfortunately there are frustrate d bastards and bitohes 

in sooial work tooj we have a lot of them in the sohool. I thi nk that I would 

hate to have any sooial problem of mine dealt with by most of the sooial workers 

I have seen because they are so unbalanced themselves. Woman supervisors are 

about the most obsessive and punishing persons in the field b ecause they just 

don't seem to have a well balanced life in other areasj mos t of them I have seen 

are this way, but not all. It is a sad situation. 

I have given some thought to what I will do after I get thr ough sohool. I 

still don*t want to be doing oasework the rest of my life, a nd I haven*t given 

up thoughts about doing something in the area of cultural contacts, but I don't 

know where or how I oould fit into this. I figure that I migh t as well be doing 

something I like instead of being a slave to a Job, and I  don*  t particularly 

care to be doing oase work under frustrated sooial work su pervisors forever. 
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I feel in a low moral«, dejected, upset» angry* I may have  to take an-

other field work course in the school because the matter was n ot settled after 

all* There still is some question about my getting out of th e school with 

only SO units of field work instead of 56. And I am afraid th at Heyman is go-

ing to stick the knife into me* We had words in our conferenc e today« and 

she got very unpleasant when I said that I couldn't help it if I was cautious 

about using the psyohoanalytioal approaoh in my case work up there* Heyman 

said that I had to use it since this was the slant of the  entire hospital, and 

she insinuated that I didn't know anything about casework* I told her that 

there was a reason why 1 had not come as well prepared as the ot her students* 

After we started discussing this more calmly» Heyman said th at she felt I needed 

the one extra quarter of field work since placements were u sually for three 

quarters anyway« and she didn't think that I would be able to o atoh up in two 

since I didn't have the same basic background as the rest o f the students* She 

went on to say that it wasn't because I couldn't do it but th e school expected 

me to close too large a gap* I had to agree with her there, but I still feel 

that as long as I do fairly effective casework, what differe nce is it if I don't 

use the psychoanalytical stuff so much* Heyman has been bo thered because I do 

not trace back all of the personality problems of relatives and patients to the 

unresolved oedipal oomplex, as they interpret that most o f these things have 

a strong sexual basis* 

The thing that burns me up is that 1 may very likely have to do one more 

quarter in the school because I have not absorbed enough of th at approach* It 

isn't fair at all, but there isn't much I can do about it, e specially since they 

won't give me any credit for field work I did in the Army or in camp* They only 

gave me oredit for 2/S of a year for my years field work at U* C* Such a smug 

school I  I never had any trouble doing case work before, and I did like the Public 
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Welfare placement last quarter* But the P. I* work hasn't been too satisfying 

beoause of the pressure of the supervisor» who feels I s hould apply more of the 

psychoanalytic theory to case work and I find this diffio ult beoause I don't 

think I have been conditioned in this way as much as the othe r students* Actually» 

I haven't said muoh about it to Heyman, but it doesn't come ou t in my casework* 

I have worked hard up there this quarter and that is -the pa rt which burns me up* 

Heyman will no doubt tell the faculty advisor that I don't hav e the analytical 

equipment to meet her satisfaction and recommend that the ex tra field work not 

be waived* I won't be able to do a thing about that» and it hurt s my ego too 

beoause it is tantamount to saying that 1 have practical ly failed the quarter 

at P* I*» only they put it in a nioer way and say that the ad ded experience will 

be good for me* I want that degree so I guess 1 will have to do it* There is a 

slim ohanoe that my faculty advisor will be more lenient» bu t I doubt it now* 

It is enough to make me thoroughly disgusted with social work ers» a feeling that 

has been developing ever since I went into the damn NY Schoo l» but Yuriko calmed 

me down by saying that after all three more months was not a l ifetime* Looking 

at it that way did sooth me down» but I am still unhappy about the whole thing* 

It's funny that such a vague field as social work oan be so dam n limiting in its 

requirements almost as if the Sohool has an inferiority co mplex about its role 

in the professional field* Oh well, I feel easier nowj com plex things have to 

be aooepted in life even if diffioult* 
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It just occurred to me that I was being induoted into the Ar my about 

this time two years ago, and one of those atom bombs was bei ng dropped at 

the same time* I wonder if the world is any better off by having the war* 

I doubt it* The war was to preservo demooraoy from fasoistio forces, but 

these ideals seem to have been pretty muoh by-passed, an d now we are talking 

about saying the world from Communism* I feel that I have be en disillusioned 

enough to believe that no kind of war is justified and I don't want any part 

of another one* Some of the students at sohool feel pessimi stic enough to 

believe that there will be another world war within the ne xt ten years and 

then the world will be destroyed by the chain reaction of ato m bombs whioh 

will knook the earth out of existence and destroy all living things* It 

oould happen» and the UN is so weak and small that it hardly se ems to be in 

any position to stop thelarge powers from going on another imperialist orgy* 

It gets very discouraging when the same thing happens over a nd over again, 

and I am afraid that the ideals of demooraoy are pretty muoh fo rgotten about 

in the struggle for eoonomio oontrol* Maybe we are getting t oo oomplex for 

demooraoy to work, it seems that we are going away from its principles all 

the time and it is mainly used as a rallying ory when war come s* I guess it 

is not as bad as that yet because there are plenty of peopl e, the majority, 

who want to lead decent lives and who have a democratic spiri t whioh the 

contemporary society does not encourage too muoh* 

In the meantime, I waste my time burying myself in the dum b activities 

of the N*T* Sohoolt I have to start on two term papers to day as the quarter 

is drawing near to an end* Yuriko is sleeping this morning as  she worked 

hard all last evening washing laundry* She brought over one of her danoe 

students, Ohandi Brody, last night and he oertainly was a p eculiar character, 

a frustrated danoer and singer who talks about love of p ure art and lives in 
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moat unorthodox ways, who gets angry at people who prostitu tes are just to 

make a buck. He sounded like one of the neurotio boys I talked to in field 

work* 

Yuriko is all exoited because Joan Skinner phoned Duggie fr om Bennington 

that she saw Martha who had a wedding band on her finger* This h as caused 

exoited speoulation and the girls believe that maybe Mart ha married Eriok and 

they do not like the prospeots at all because Eriok is suoh  a diotator around 

the studio* The girls also feel that it will ohange a lot of t hings in regard 

to Martha 1s danoing tours* Yuriko felt that maybe Martha is getting lo nely at 

her age and wants a companion so that she got married* It* 8 only a rumor, but 

the girls act as if it is true* 

We are getting our phone installed in a day or so* It complica tes our 

problem because we don't know what sort of aotion Mrs* Ohta w ill take about 

moving us out of here* Mrs* Ohta is up in the country right now  and she hasn't 

bothered us* but she may try to put some pressure on when she gets baok, 

partioularly if she has to move out of her own building which has been oondemned* 

Miss Lord told Yuriko that Mrs* Ohta oould not eviot us sin ce she does not have 

a lease herself, but there is nothing to prevent her from ge tting one by paying 

the 16£ rent hike* W« shall seel 
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Confidential 

Yuriko suggested that we ride the subway up to Jamaioa, a nd then take 

the train from there. We were very surprised to find that we actually saved 

time and we got better seats by doing thisj and« more importan t» we saved 

$1.90 in trainfare. When we got up to Pilgrim State Hospital , we went right 

up to the ward. Mrs.  M . was looking muoh better and the bandages were off of 

her neok« She still had some ideas of referenoe and she s aid that the pressure 

on her head still bothered her* However, she smiled more of ten and did not seem 

as fearful as she had been« She works in the kitohen severa l hours a day in 

order to keep busy. She began to talk a bit in terms of the fut ure and said she 

would like to go either to California or Japan« We told her t hat we oould talk 

over more of these things later« Mrs« M. still has some idea s that she is being 

perseouted, but she does not have so muoh self aoousatory r eferences as before« 

The dootor has been ohanged on her oase and it is now a male psyohiatrist« 

After waiting around the offioe for some time 1 finally was able to see Dr« Juoony« 

He is a very young dootor, not too many months out of the arm y. He was very 

friendly when he found that I had been at Mason« Dr« Juoony s aid Mrs«  wa s 

probably suffering from involutionary psychosis, whioh wa s related to menopause« 

The dootor felt that this type of disturbanoe was oommon to w omen of this age 

and the ohanoes for reoovery were fairly good« He said that  Mrs. M. would 

probably be given some eleotrio shook treatment later on« T his prognosis was 

better than we expeoted but Dr« Juoony said that it would te ll what would happen« 

After we got home, 1 began to feel a bit groggy« My throat had been bothering 

me all day and 1 felt weak« I only ate a very light dinner and t hen I went to 

bed« Yuriko said this morning that she was a bit disappointed because I was so 

irritable, but I don't remember muoh of that« Yuriko was n ot feeling so good 

herself, but she got worried beoause 1 had a fever« This mor ning 1 felt very 

badly, my baok aohed and I felt low« 
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I haven't done muoh in the offioe this morning» and it looks like the 

others are taking it easy also« The way I feel now» I am very mu oh disgusted 

with this setup and my enthusiasm has been very muoh damp ened as a result of 

my Friday conference with Heyman* I don't see how things wi ll work out now 

that I have found out the way she feels* 

It is very depressing to think of doing one more quarter o f field work 

when I am so anxious to get out of this sohool* At this mome nt I am pretty 

muoh disgusted with sooial work and I don't seem to be abl e to shake off this 

mood. It is oertainly unfortunate that I had to have an ex perienoe like this 

during my final quarters in the sohool* I almost knocked myse lf out in this 

field work and yet it doesn't satisfy the supervisor beoause  there isn't enough 

psyohoanalytioal interpretation in my reoords* I oan't do muoh about that 

beoause I am just not oonditioned that way* 

Rather than make myself unhappy for the rest of the year» I ha ve thought 

up a tentative alternative whioh I will disouss with my faoulty advisor* Sinoe 

I have the two quarters of field work to do» I will ask if I oan do it in an-

other agenoy (unless they will ohange my supervisor here» wh ioh is not likely)* 

This will mean five days of field work a week so that I'll have to finish up my 

thesis in September. I don't know if they will allow such a pro gram, but I shall 

ask for it beoause I do not oare to spend three extra months in sohool* 
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My summer sniffles baok to normaloy, and I felt muoh better t oday* It is 

very uncomfortable to be blowing my nose on suoh a hot, h umid day. Yuriko gets 

very worried when I start getting a cold as she says that it scares her because 

of the serious illness I had last year. She told me this morni ng that she 

watohed over me the other night, and that I was so irritable th at she was wondering 

if I were getting tired of her to the point that repressed feel ings were coming 

outl I assured her that I must have been delirious as I did not recall a thing, 

and she was satisfied with that explanation but oautioned me not to do it again 

or she would give me a taste of my own medioine. I guess I mus t be a diffioult 

person at times, and only a sweet girl like Yuriko would be ab le to put up with 

it. She says that it is love, but I don*t have to take advantag e of itl In 

several more days, we will be celebrating our 11th month of marriage. I guess 

it has been successful, at least we don't have arguments a bout things and we 

seem to be pretty well agreed on things so that we do not olas h. Yuriko said 

that if a depression ever came, it would be better to be marri ed to a social 

worker because it would be easier to apply for relief. This w as in reference 

to our discussion about the economic condition of the day, and my job prospects 

in the future. Yuriko is not very worried about my recent moo d as she feels 

that it is not that muoh of a setback if measured in long range terms. I guess 

she is right. Yuriko 1 s  philosophy is that she will always be able to make some 

sort of living, even if it has to be domestic work, so that I need not get too 

upset about making too muoh money. She admits that it would b e nice to have, 

but points out that increased finanoes also brings a lot of headaches along with 

itj "and as long as we are happy, why worry too muoh about it ?" With suoh an 

asset as Yuriko, I guess that I oould not get too depressed ab out anything. 

The telephone man arrived this morning to install our phon e, and it was an 

exciting event for Yuriko since it would be suoh a conven ience for her. But her 



2813 

12 August 1947.  Thur sday. 

enthusiasm was dashed when the installer said that it oou ld not be used until 

October. So in the meantime, Yuriko can keep it dusted. She says, "Oh well, 

it makes us look more prosperous to have a phone as an orname nt in the apart-

ment Yuriko said that the owner of the building was around t oday asking 

about a lb% lease. He is going to find out from the real estate c ompany if it 

can be offered to us. Apparently the man likes Yuriko very m uch and feels that 

Mrs. Ohta has been cheating us. Yuriko wanted to know if w e should push the 

matter. I haven*t deoided, but I can rationalise that we are a lready paying 50^ 

extra and it would be cheaper to pay only 15^ with a lease . Mrs. Ohta has been 

making money on us long enough, and we suspect that she wa nts to keep us unoertain 

so that she can make a demand to raise the rent. She hasn't g ot a lease herself 

so there is some question about whether she is legally entitl ed to sub-lease in 

the way she has been doing. It would be nice if we oould sol ve this housing 

problem. It is even aoute for the oats who oome through the op en window at night 

to sleep on our kitohen table. 

Yuriko is teaohing late this evening. She said her mother wrote to say that 

she wanted to get out, how sorry she was that she got so ups et, that she wanted 

to finish up the hostel job since she felt it was an obligati on. This is going to 

beoome more of a diffioult problem in the ooming weeks beo ause she doesn't realise 

that she is quite ill yet. 
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90° temperature today| olasses were insufferable and I h ad a hard time 

remaining awake* Yuriko is sprawled out on the bed eatin g oandy and reading 

the paper, but I have to write a oouple of olass papers yet a nd I have to get 

down to business* I guess I am resigned to the sohool situat ion now beoause 

I feel free about it and it doesn't bother me so muoh as it  had in the past 

few days* llaybe it was beoause Yuriko did oasework on me, and I am reoonoiled 

to remaining in olass until next Maroh* It will make exaotly one year in sohool* 

I went to talk to Mrs. Austin, my faoulty adviser, about thi s confusing 

situation and she was very warm and human in her under standin g*-too bad my 

supervisor is not like that. We talked the whole situation over, and Mrs. A. 

soothed my ego by telling me that it was just a matter of the sohool insisting 

upon its graduates having a certain point of view about cas ework and it was no 

fault of mine that I did not have it beoause I went to differen t schools and 

there was a large gap in my sohool training. She related it fro m a muoh more 

hopeful pioture, and I guess I have gone to the other extrem e beoause I am going 

to take extra oourses and take advantage of the 01 rights as long as I have to 

do the extra field work oourset There isn't any use in being gloomy as I guess 

it is for my best good to get as well equipped for sooial work as possible* But, 

as a result of my thinking I think that I may shift from a p syohiatrio sooial 

work basis to an emphasis on the cultural aspects as that has been my main interest 

all along. Mrs* A. felt that my work with U.C* conditioned my thinking more 

along sooiologioal oonoepts and that is why it is so diffio ult to aooept the 

psychoanalytical viewpoint. I asked for a change of field work plaoement beoause 

(l) a hospital setting has been rather unoomfortable for m e sinoe Mrs. M's 

illness, and (2) I don't seem to oliok with my supervisor. I told Mrs* Austin 

the first reason, but not the second* She understood this sit uation very fully, 

and reoogniEed that it might be disturbing to be wondering a bout relative 
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responsibility becoming a burden, but suggested that I ap ply a case work oonoept 

to this oases i.e., every individual has the right to his happiness. This is the 

situation whioh Yuriko and I haven*t fully worked out yet even though we recognise 

that it Just won't work to assume responsibility for Mrs. II. when she comes out of 

the hospital. I think that this has been a disturbing thing i n the baok of my head 

and that is why it is more difficult to work with the mentall y ill at the P. I. 

Mrs. Austin said she would ask about a change, but asked me to wait for a week be-

fore making a final decision. I guess that I will stay at P, I. because the discipline 

might be good for me, and I may learn more how to handle  tiie  problem of Mrs. M. when 

the time oomes. It has been quite a blow to ohange my date for a degree for one extra 

quarter. I hope that this persistence will pay off in a Job af terwardst Suoh is 

lifet It is embarrassing to be a schoolboy at my age, but Yu riko wants me to finish 

up. At one point, I almost played with the idea of quitting so hool because of my 

impatience with the NY Sohool, but decided that it was not p ractical to throw away 

all I have worked for since before the war. Mrs. Austin said that all transfer 

students have the same difficulty so I need not think that I am the first, "if tiiat 

helps your morale any.* It is difficult to take these thin gs, but there isn't any 

other alternative even tho the sohool oould have let me in on this before now. That*s 

what hurtI 

Yuriko said that the owner of the building may bring us a lea se to sign to-

morrow for this place. We talked it all over and decided th at we would sign a lease 

with a 15$ increase in rent because we have been paying 50$ ov er anyway. We don*t 

know how Mrs. Ohta is going to take it, but we will just tell  her that Allan told 

us he had no intention of moving us out so that she is really i llegally profiteering 

on us. Then we will tell her to move her furniture junk out of h ere because we will 

refuse to pay rent on this furniture any longer. Yuriko and  I arrived at this deoision 

after long deliberation, and we have rationalized to our s atisfaction. Under any 

other oiroumstanoes we oertainly would refuse a 15$ incre ase in rent, but a lease at 
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this time will aotually be a rental deduction for us* Of cours e, we will have to 

buy some furniture but it will be ours when we finally do move * Mrs* Ohta can't 

do anything because she doesn't have a lease on this place anyway* No doubt she 

will storm over here and call us a lot of names, but we can t ake that* All we do 

now is wait for the real estate company to offer us the lea se, and we don't know 

for certain that it will be done* If not, then we have to sweat out this housing 

situation some more* We have gotten to the point where we  are philosophical about 

the whole thing; it's just a matter of who exploits us—the re al estate oompany or 

Mrs* Ohta, and we prefer the former since a lease comes with it* 
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Z spent a long day at field work today, and it was so hot—ove r 90 

degrees« We have a hot stuffy office, and I get my clothes s tuck to the 

chairs because of the great heat* It is an uncomfortable fe eling to be 

wearing a suit, I tMnir that New Yorkers should be more pr actical and wear 

informal clothing, but they seem to insist upon ties an d coats even in the 

hottest weather« I had four interviews so I remained there u ntil about 7t50 

writing the records up* 

When I got home, Yuriko left a note instructing me not to eat  until she 

got back because she bought a special steak to celebrate our 11th months 

anniversary. We ate and ate and both of us were quite stuff ed« My stomach 

was practically rolling over because it was so full an d I got afraid at 

seeing the protuding paunch and decided to diet, but Yurik o only snickered. 

She knows that I don't have much will power« It was a very nice meal anyway, 

and we re dined around for the rest of the evening as it w as much too hot to 

study« }fy summer cold still bothers me. We listened to a pr ogram observing 

the second year since VJ Day, and I bet a lot of  01  f s were wandering what 

the hell the war was all about« 
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Today was the hottest day of  the. year  and we svelte red up at field work« 

I didn't do very nnioh as my appointments did not come In due  to the heat* 

In the morning, I had ngr conference with Miss Heyman and sh e was much less 

punishing than usual and she seems to be relaxing on me«  In talking over 

the situation with some of the other students, they advi se that I just use 

the form of recording she is nuts about as that is the o nly way in which 

she is able to judge a student's progress« I did that in the la st record 

and she remarked that it showed a lot of progress in o ne week. Actually I 

did not do anything different! it was just in the way o f writing it up i*e* 

to make myself look good in the interviewing situation* If  that is what 

she wants, I guess I can conform to that extent, I told Mis s Heyman that I 

wanted to finish up the two remaining quarters in that se tting and this seemed 

to please her* A lot of the students are beginning to rebe l against her* 

On the other hand, Tessie is leaving to start another uni t at Kings Co* 

Hospital and her students were all so sorrowful* There  certainly is a great 

difference between the two supervisors* Now her stude nts are so afraid 

that they will get Heyman and worried stiff about it* 

Some of Yuriko's friends have invited us out to dinner* Vis will 

probably melt before the evening is over* The girl invitin g us is Melpo, 

a Greek girl who was in the underground over there during  the war* She 

comes from a rich family so I guess she isn't much in sympat hy with the 

Oreek rebels* 
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We were out until after one ayem last night with Helpo and her friend 

Kim* Both of them are from Greecet Melpo on a student vis a for dancing (sent 

by the National Theater of Qreece government  sponsored)  9  and Kim on a 

commercial visa* He imports stuff to send to Greece« Mel po knows five 

languages, but doesn't know English too well, while Kim kn ows three languages, 

and English quite well* He had to interpret a lot of the t hings to Melpo 

in Greek and French. They were a rather interesting couple  and we stayed 

in the air conditioned night club for about six hours eat ing, drinking, 

dancing, and talking. There was a huge bill but Kim use d Melpo's money with 

finesse and paid off with a $60 bill as we were Melpo f s guest. She cones 

from a rather wealthy family so lives quite comfortable h ere while the rest 

of the Greeks over there are starving, but she can't hel p that» Her mother 

is in Prance right now; Melpo was bom in Egypt and she has been in most of 

the European capitals (as well as Kim). During the war, Melpo stopped her 

dancing concerts in Germany and Joined the Greek undergroun d resistence 

movement and according to Kim she was one of the most val uable agents. 

We sat in the comfortable and cool Club here in the Vil lage and talked 

for hours. Although Kim and Melpo are culturally sophis ticated, they are 

naive in a lot of ways too. It gave them a great personali ty of chara. 

Melpo has a tremendous admiration for Yuriko's dancing and  wishes to extend 

her visa in order to take more lessons from her. At the same time, she feels 

that her underground work during the Occupation has taken a lot out of her 

and she is worried that it might affect her future danc ing. Yuriko seems to 

have a great understanding of this feeling since she w ent through a similar 

experience, on a more minor scale. They discussed danci ng techniques quite 

fully and Kim was very much interested. He seemed to have a great attraction 

for artist things even though he is a businessman. He sai d that when Greece 
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was on a more stabilized basis he was going to see if Yurik o couldn't be 

sponsored to go on a tour over there as he believed that Eu ropeans had a 

much greater appreciation for the more artistic type of d ancing than 

Americans» 

In discussing the present political situation, both Kim and Melpo were 

ardent supporters of the present Rightest government as expected. They felt 

that the masses in Greece had more to gain by hitching t heir star to the 

democracies and were not strong supporters of the commun ists* The leftists 

were primarily supported by labor groups and some agraria n elements* Their 

outlook for Greece was not too hopeful, as the country is cau ght in the 

middle of the stratetic fight between the great Easte rn power and western 

powers* Since they cane from the upper class group, they  spoke primarily 

in terras of how the property of this class had to be defen ded from communist 

elements* They are intrigued by life in America as represe nted tr the 

sophisticated part of NYC and they would like to stay for qu ite a while. 

However, they don't think they could remain away permane ntly from the gay 

continental life, which doesn't exist anymore* Their f reshness and admiration 

for life in U*S*A* made us feel that we were much better of f despite the fact 

that we are poor working people, and we got a better appr eciation of what 

we have* 

It was like an oven when we came out of the night club, and last night 

it was difficult to sleep very well* Yuriko was very lovey- dovey and she 

talked until late so that she lost her sleepy news and didn 't get a good 

rest, while I slept soundly* I got up early to work on my clas s papers as 

reality ¿6 staring me in the face and I managed to finish th em up right now* 

It is almost two and Yuriko finally got awake enough to go o ut to the kitchen 

where she is cooking steak for our brunch* She has worked hard this past week 
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In the excessive heat so that she is a bit worn out and sh e will try to 

catch up on her rest this weekend. It is cooling off a b it and I may get 

ambitious enough to do some more of nty class assignments.  There is only 

two more weeks of school» We haven't signed a lease on  this apartment yet 

because we have some doubts about Mrs. Ohta's reactions. 

Turiko felt badly this afternoon because the goldfish d ied, and then 

she lost the food pot money when she went to the store. It u pset me too, 

and Turiko said I scolded her but I was just irritated as I couldn't under-

stand how it could have fallen out of her hand without her n oticing it. Turiko 

•aid that she had a lot of heavy bags, and refused to be che ered up when I 

said that nothing could be done about it, it Just happene d. We need to 

be very conscious of our money now, as we won't have much of  an income in 

September. I'll only draw half of a monthly subsiste nce and Turiko won't 

be doing much teaching. During September we will have o ur usual High Cost 

of Living, plus the large amount Turiko has to spend for h er concert. I'm 

glad that we were able to put the dancing fund aside. I f Rhoda ever pays 

Turiko back any of that $500, it would help a lot but Turik o is not 

counting on any of it as Rhoda is always broke and expect ing her uncle or 

some other relative to send her money for her support. I gue ss everyone 

has troubles so it is no use in creating a major crises ou t of the inadvertant 

loss of the food money. Many people are getting evicted fr om their homes here 

in the city and they have to sleep in the park with all of thei r belongings. 

That isn't so nice when it rains like on a day like today. T uriko will 

cheer up; she felt badly because she had planned to set asid e some money to 

use for train fare next week when we go up to Pilgrim. In KYC, one does not 

expect a lost pocketbook to ever be returned, people don't go in for much of 

that kind of honesty. 
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Confidential, 

We went over to the cleaning shop last night to pick up Mrs.  M's share 

of the dividends, and to find out if Douglas planned t o visit Pilgrim today. 

When Yuriko asked him if he were going, Douglas said very nastily that he 

was never going anymore. Joannie slipped out of the place u nobtrusively. 

I told Douglas that this was his decision to make. Doug las was quite upset 

about something, and we wanted to know what was going on . Yuriko and I 

had expected him to pull out at anytime, but not so s oon and it puzzled 

out« We waited around until the shop was closed, and the n we went to the 

back room to talk it out. 

Douglas began saying that he was being very nuch per secuted and he 

was sick and tired of everything» He said that Mr. Muller an d Peter were 

trying to ruin his reputation about the Hostel managem ent and even trying 

to put him Into jail. Douglas was particularly angry becau se he said 

that the Hostel had "confiscated" his rice and it was Just l ike stealing. 

He accused Mr. Muller and Peter of being In on a plot to make sane money for 

themselves at the expense of the church board. Then, he sai d that I was 

in on this plot and that was why he was not going to have anything to do 

with Mrs. M f s affairs hereafter. His reasoning was not very sound, bu t 

like a social worker I tried to be accepting and encour aged him to get his 

story out instead of punching him in the mouth for being suc h a stupid ass. 

He said that he had heard from other sources that Peter A oki had told people 

that I had started the investigation of the hostel shorta ge by going to 

Mr. Muller and that I was working closely with Mr. Muller t o push Peter 

Into this investigation. 

I tcld Douglas that I did not know anything about the host el financial 

affairs since that was not my business, but I was interest ed in representing 
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Mrs. M ao that she got what was coming to her« I didn't tell Douglas that 

he really got himself into this mess by telling a lot of l ies, and there 

must have been some shortages if the churoh board is now i nvestigating 

him. But I put it very straight to Douglas that this was the first that 

I had heard of all these developments. Douglas then wanted  to know how 

much I received from the Church Board for Mrs. M. I said i t was $200, and 

that it was my understanding that this represented Mrs. M' s pay for the 

month, plus the bonus which she was supposed to receive ins tead of the paid 

vacation which was coming to her5 and that Douglas still  owed Mrs. M. £100 

for her share of the J'.me salary, 

Douglas' story was that he was supposed tc get half of the July salary 

since his resignation was not effective until after he ca me back from 

California; and that since he kept the entire June cheek, Mr s« M could keep 

the July check and he would be clear with her. Then he sa id that I would 

have to ask the Chiirch Board for the bonus check for Mrs , M, His story 

sounded logical so I aaid that I would phone Mr. Muller a nd get it straight® 

All this story reinforced Douglas 1 belief that Mr. Mailer was cheating 

honest people in order to line his own pockets« He cal led Muller all sorts 

of names* 

In regard to the rice "confiscation" I made it clear tha t I had nothing 

to do with this, and that furthermore Mrs. M was entitle d to a half share of 

any money which came from it. Since this was true, we asked Dou glas if it 

was logical that we would want the entire rice taken from h im. Douglas was 

very relieved that we would baok him up on getting the ric e money because of 

Mrs. M's interest in it, and he began to say that he was going to sue the 

churoh board, force them to make a public apology, and t hat he was going to 

write in the Japanese newspapers the truth so that his nam e would be cleared. 
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He felt that we should support him In this since Mrs* M' s name was also 

involved and any reflection upon him would be a reflec tion upon Mrs* M* We 

will go along with him on the rice business since it repr esents  $100, and 

we are not ooncemed with his good reputation because he ha s told so many 

lies that they are beginning to catch up with him and then h e gets furious 

because it does! I don't know how he has manipulated the ri ce deal because 

he never told us the truth about it, and there may be a la rge shortage in 

the hostel funds which he has not told us about. But in order  to get Mrs* 

M's share of the rice money, we have to back up hie story about buying that 

rice personally* I think that he did but I don't know if he s old it to the 

church board previously and is trying to collect twice. T here are no 

records of the deal, and Peter now thinks that Douglas used  the Hostel 

funds originally to buy the rice* I told Douglas that I woul d phone Mr* 

Muller on monday to straighten this matter out as best as possible, but 

that it was not any of my business to straighten out any other misdealings 

which might have gone on with Hostel funds. Douglas swor e up and down that 

he was an honest man, that he had sacrificed so much to mak e the Hostel a 

success and so forth» 

Douglas was projecting go much of his guilt feelings th at he actually 

believes that he is a misunderstood and persecuted man jus t because he fell 

in love, and that everyone is trying to punish him for tha t by smearing 

his reputation* He tells so damn many lies that he just ca n't talk hie way 

out of this mess, it seems, so that he projects his anger t o other causes* 

He brought up the story that Mrs. M would not have gotten ill if we had taken 

her in, and that all the Japanese were saying that Yuriko w as a bad daughter 

for not being more responsible for her mother. This was su pposed to make 

us feel guilt and defensive and Douglas has actually ration alised that he 
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had no part in Mrs. M's illness and therefore he has no respo nsibility, 

I told him that this was a silly thing to argue with  hi:*,  but that I wanted 

to point out to him quite clearly that he could not saddle me with the 

responsibility for hie mess and that we were participati ng because we 

wanted Mrs. M to get a fair deal. Douglas had no answer to t hat, but he 

began talking about how it was the daughter's duty to do thin gs for parents 

and that Yuriko should take Mrs, M to Japan after she got o ut of the 

hospital. There was no use in arguing with his type of lim ited thinking. 

We told him that we were not concerned with what other Japa nese were 

talking, and that he had his conscience to live with. (Act ually, all of 

this was what he was really thinking but he was trying to p ut it into the 

mouths of other people as in the usual Japanese community  lives are dominated 

by social forces of this nature.) We told Mr. M. that the best possible plans 

would be worked out for Mrs. M. and if he didn't care to p articipate we really 

could do much shout it. Douglas said that he did want to he lp Mrs, K. but 

that Joannie just wouldn't listen and that she wanted him to wash his hands 

of the whole business. He should have said this in the fi rst place because 

this was his reasoning which he had covered up with all the other excuses, 

Douglas got on the defensive again because his plan to shift all the blame 

of his troubles upon us had not worked out in the way he anticipated, and 

that he didn't expect Yuriko to even question his thinking s ince he was an 

Elder but we did not operate by his Japanese type of thin king, which he was 

trying so hard to use to his advantage with the idea that w e would not dare 

to question Japanese conformity in thinking. Douglas s aid that when he got 

on his feet again, he would try to help as much as possible and made the usual 

promises which we no longer take any stock in. 

Then Douglas said that Mr. Ishimaru was disatisfied wit h the division 

of the shop profits and he wanted $20 a week more guarante e for his wife 
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since she worked in there full time. We said wa could not d o this since it 

vould be costing Mrs. M. money and she would get any return  upon her invest-

ment. We pointed out that Mr. M. was still getting a one-f ourth share of 

the profits, plus getting paid for being pressor, plus the fa ct that Tosh's 

salary came out of Mrs. M'e share. What has happened is tha t Mr. M. gets 

the lion's chare of the profits, it must be at least $85 a week while Mrs. 

M. gets only an average of 110 a weak. Douglas said that the  only reason 

he was staying on was that he had made a "gentleman's agre ement" with Mr. 

Ishimaru and that he was a man of honor. We politely sni ckered behind our 

sympathetic faces, Douglas claims he only makes $4.5 a w eek, but he forgets 

to mention tliat he deducts the debts he is repaying. We f elt that we could 

not give up Mrs, M's share so that the only solution was to sell the shop, 

and in this way Douglas could start out on his own too. Doug las was happy 

to jump at this suggestion as it provides him an easy out in discharging 

his obligations with Mr. Ishimaru. I wrote a note saying t hat we wanted 

to sell as Dour-las was afraid of what Mr. Ishimaru might t hink of him. He 

then went on to tell us that he did not trust Mr. Ishimaru, t hat Mr. Ishi-

maru was slyly pushing him out of the seed business and s o forth. It seems 

that he owes Mr, Ishimaru about $500 for that California trip. Douglas 

probably told us a bunch of lies so that wo vould side wit h him. As soon 

as we get Mrs, M's cleaning shop money, we are not going to b other with 

Douglas and his difficulties; but we have to humor him a long until he gets 

the shop sold so we acted like we believed all he said abo ut Mr. Ishimaru. 

He probably had told Mr. Ishimaru a bunch of lias and it caught up with him. 

The main reason we decided that sealing the shop was t he best solution was 

because Mr. Ishimaru seems to be so mercenary that he wouldn't mind taking 

Mrs. M's money while she is in the hospital and unable to de fend herself. 

Such Japs2 
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Mr* Kinoshita has sold the other cleaning shop and he Is goin g to repay 

the $700 owed to Mrs, M so that we have to go over and see h im this afternoon. 

The way we have figured it out, we will be able to accumu late roughly $2000 

for Mrs, M, The cleaning shop may be sold at a loss, but that is better 

than nothing» Douglas felt that it was worth $8000 because of the two roam 

apartment in the back and he said that he would advertise in Seabrooks 

Farms because a Japanese couple could make a very good liv ing out of it 

since the profits would not be divided so many ways, Mrs , M has received 

very little of the profits actually so that some manipulatio n is undoubtedly 

going on and now Douglas is afraid that I will catch up to him because I 

have not showed any hesitation in going to the Church Boar d, and he wants 

to get out of the entire mess, I'm not interested in trying t o get him into 

jail, but he will have to fix himself up with the Church Board since that 

is something of his own doings, Douglas was satisfied by this time that I 

was not in on any plot with Muller and Peter, but ve refus ed to be "won" 

over completely to his side liVe he has done with his l ittle clique at the 

Hostel, 

When we went over to the hostel afterwards, we found tha t the Douglas-

Asawa Axis was very embarrassed to see us, and all but Mrs * A, quickly 

slipped out of sight, Douglas has this tight little clique believing his 

story, and there is a feud going on the the Peter Aokl grou p. We know damn 

well that Douglas has smeared Yuriko's name with those other Issel in that 

building because of a desire to save his own face about wh at happened in the 

marital bustup, but it doesn't bother us at all, If Doug las feels a need to 

go around and tell everyone his story so that they will feel s orry for him, 

that is his business and we are not going to fall into any trap to try and 

combat it. It is too small and narrow  minded,  and we don't care what other 

Issel might think and believe, Douglas is so charming that  he does get 
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people to believe him, and it is only in times like th is that lies begin to 

catch up with him. 

We found out that Mrs. Azawa was also mad at us, and it de veloped that 

Peter had given her notice that her services would not be n eed after the end 

of this month, but she would be given a full salary for Septe mber because 

of her vacation time; but that she would have to pay room and board at the 

Hos si after the end of this month. Mrs. Aaawa, Dougl as and the rest of this 

tight clique believed that I had gotten the church board t o take this action 

in "revenge"  for what has happened and to punish Douglas! I said that I 

would see Peter Aoki and get that straightened out today be cause I had nothing 

to do with it. Actually| Mrs. A. is being discharged for pr actical reasons 

since it costs the Hostel too much money to keep her on, but Douglas and 

family does not think of it in this way at all, as Peter originally feared. 

All of these things reinforces support for Douglas so tha t he throws his 

heart and soul into the battle for getting Justice for "Mone y, tt  We almost 

laughed when Douglas kept calling Mrs. A "momey." The guy is o nly about 10 

years younger than Mrs. Aj (Douglas is going on 46 and Mrs. M is 51— so there 

was not a ten years ago difference; but Douglas passes for 41 to Joannie) 

Douglas feels that the Hostel kitchen was established to help the Japanese-

American resettlement so that it cannot be operated on the besis of profits 

and that Mrs. A should be kept on even if only one person ate there. Mrs. A 

does have a case since she has a previous letter asking h er to stay on until 

the end of October. But there was no "plot" to punish her fo r Douglas's 

affairs; she will never believe that though* Douglas is m ade because he 

still eats there and it is cheaper for him. He also refused t o move out as 

he feels that any resettler is entitled to remain there as long as rent is 

paid. What a nerve J He oan't find any housing so that is why Douglas is 

grabbing at anything to carry on the feud with Peter and get the rest of the 
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people there to believe that he is being persecuted. It' s just like a comedy. 

The plan now is for Mrs. A. and Kiml to move in with the lovi ng couple as 

soon as Douglas can find an apartment. Joannie doesn't d o a damn thing as 

she thinks she is a lady and Douglas told us privately tha t Joannie expects 

to follow the "American way" and be supported by hubby an d not become a sweat 

shop tool. If they are so hard up for money, why doesn't s he got to work? 

We should sue Douglas for stealing so much of Mrs. M's money, but we have 

no proof and $2000 is better than nothing at all so our  hands are tied. 

We shall be glad to wash our hands of that peculiar group. Another reason 

why Douglas and cohorts thot I was in some kind of plan was tha t Kirni has 

not been paid for the month she worked in the hostel, a nd Douglas is 

oertain that Mr. Muller is lining his own pockets at the chu rch boards 

expense. I think the church board has been very easy with M r. M. and if 

he tells too much, it is going to bounce right back in hi s face. But, we 

will help to straighten out the rice deal so that Mrs. M c an get her $100 

share of it since she should not be penalized for Douglas's misdeeds. Poor 

Peter is taking a beating because a strong clique at th e hostel is trying 

to embarass him due to their loyalty to Douglas, and all s orts of intricate 

maneuvers goes on just like in the campsI And, to think tha t Joannie 

was so "American 11 that she couldn't bear to think of the thought that she 

would ever have any part with the narrow minded life of a Japanese communityj 

but she has it now! 

Yuriko and I decided later that we will wash our hands of  Mr M and 

tribe as soon as we get Mrs. M's money, expect that w e will ask Douglas 

later on if he feels like fulfilling his promise about ta king Mrs. M to Japan 

to her relatives there as she will be happier in that envi ronment, and if that 

flails, to arrange to send her to friends in California wh ere she can talk 
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Japanese and not feel so unhappy as she was out here« L ast night, I came the 

closest to telling Douglas off, but I restrained myself an d just acted firm 

with him to let him know that he was not fooling us with his maneuvering around, 

If I ever do get any evidence on how he cheated Mrs« M« out of several thousand 

dollars, I shall oertainly do something about it; but Do uglas was so sly and 

clever that he pretty well covered up hie tracks. It is peop le like that who 

get on in our materialistic society and he will probably m ake a good living 

off of the land he bought in Long Island with his ill got ten gains« We 

could never prove anything so we haven't brought this up. Douglas is such 

an irresponsible psychopathic personality that we don't expect him to 

discharge any of his promises« Yuriko says that he certainl y has been a 

great disappointment to her and she is through giving him a ny benefit of the 

doubt anymore« We just hope that he has enough of a cons cience left to make 

a partial restitution financially to Mrs. M. in the months t o come. Mrs« 

M. just made a bad investment of from £5000 to £>10,000 i n Douglas over a 

period of 10 or 15 years. Yuriko estiraates that it migh t even be more but 

she doesn't know much of Mrs. M's finances since we only  entered the picture 

several months ago. 

Now we have to go see Mr. Kinoshita about the $700, and l ater I will go 

talk to Peter to find out what is going on, and advise h im to be more 

discreet in what he tells people in the hostel because it all goes back to 

Hr. M in a veî  distorted foxm, and it only reinforces Mr* M 's belief that 

he is being wronged« Yuriko and I had planned to sleep the entire weekend 

tool Yuriko has been very calm about what has gone on, and sh e looks upon 

it in a very mature manner. Feels that she would have been v ery revengeful 

and impulsive if she had to handle it herself« 



o 

2831 

17 August 1947. Sunday. 

17 August 1947, Sunday 
168 Thompson St. 
NYC 12, New York. 

Mr« H. Muller 
Unitarian Service Committee 
51 East 55th Street 
New York City. 

Dear SirI 

It had been my understanding that that the July cheek for $ 195,70 

made out to Mrs. Mitsuhaahi settled all accounts with the C hurch Board for 

Hostel salary, since the amount represented $100 for salar y and $100 as the 

bonus which Mrs. Mitsuhaahi was entitled to due to the fact  that she did not 

receive her paid vacation* 

Last night, I went to see Mr. Mitsuhahi in order to find out about the 

repayment of the $100 which he kept from the June check«  His story was that 

the July check was half bis legally since this was the month  his resignation 

became effective so that the $100 debt was discharged. T his sounded 

logical to me, and I would not like to know if the Church Board is planning 

to pay Mrs, Mitiuhashi for the vacation time she was ent itled to since this 

was done for Mr« Mitsuhaahi and for other employees as I u nderstand it. I 

plan to phone you Monday to discuss this matter since I f eel that in all 

fairness to Mrs. Mitsuhashi she is entitled to what she h as earned. I hope 

that you will be able to take up this matter with the Church  Board in order 

to get it straightened out, and I would have brought it t o your attention 

sooner had I known that some misunderstanding existed. 

There was also another matter which Mr. Mitsuhashi discu ssed with me. 

He states that the rice which was his was  n confiseated" by the church board, 

and he is very much upset about the whole proceedings. Sin ce I am representing 

Mrs. Mitsuhashi in this matter, I feel that she should no t be penalised in 

this case« As I recall the situation, Mr. Mitsuhashi did buy the rice from 

personal funds and that half of the money invested for this purchase belonged 
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to Mrs* Mitsuhashi. He states that the rice was never so ld to the hostel and 

that the church board had no right to take it. In a brief tal k with you 

over the phone, you mentioned that the Church Board was con sidering the 

payment of £217 for this rice to Mr. Kitsuhashi since you wanted to send it 

abroad for relief5 and at that time, I believe that I menti oned that half 

of this amount belonged to Mrs. Mitsuhashi. (plus the Ol OO of the June 

salary owed by Mr. Mitusliashi to his wife, which appare ntly has been paid 

through the July check). Mr. Mitsuhashi states that he has  forwarded a 

sales receipt of the rice purchase to your office, but t hat nothing has 

been done about it. I hope that the information I have prov ided will be 

helpful in determining the truth of the matter. 

I realize that this entire matter is unfortunate and it has caused 

considerable confusion. Mr. Mitsuhashi has now seen fit to believe that I 

am working in close cooperation with you to compile "evid ence" that he 

mismanaged the funds of the Hostel, and that I have a rev engeful motivation 

in wanting to see him jailed. In my discussion with you , I believe that I 

stated that I had not any personal feelings against Mr . Mitsuhashi because 

of the marital complications. If there has been some misha ndling of the 

funds, that is a matter for Mr. Mitsuhashi to straighten out with the church 

board and I have made it clear to him that I am not activ ely engaged in 

working with you to prosecute hiii in this matter. This i s a delicate 

situation because I am hopeful that Mr. Mitusliashi wil l be able to discharge 

some of the promises which he made in regard to the future w elfare of Mrs. 

Mitsuhashi and there would be no point in ray wanting to p rosecute him for 

anything. I know that you understand this situation, an d I have only brought 

it to your attention now in order to clarify the matter so t hat unfair 

accusations by Mr. Mitsuhashi will not be leveled at me i n the future. 
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Mr. Mitoubashi stated that he had been told that Mr. Aolci m ade a state-

ment that I requested that Mrs. Azava be discharged from t he hostel job as 

cook because of my feelings against him. I do not think t hat Mr. Aoki 

would make suoh a statement, but it is puzzling to me whe re such a stoiy 

could originate from unless Mr. Aoki said something which  was later 

distorted and exaggerated. I believe that it would be mor e tactful for Mr. 

Aoki not to make any statement which is not connected wi th Hostel business 

since it creates considerable ill-feeling. Mrs. Azaua f eels that the 

stoiy is true and cannot understand why I would be so reven geful for her. 

In our past discussion, I believe that I pointed out that Mrs, Az&wa and Klmi 

were innocent bystanders and that they should not be penal ized because they 

were related to the other sister. 

In addition, Kirui states that she has not been paid for  the one month 

she worked in the hostel, and there is some feeling that I an also responsible 

for this in some way. This is a matter for her to discuss wit h you and I 

have advised that it be done as I am sure that the churc h board does not 

have any intention of depriving her of money honestly ea rned if a verbal 

contract was entered into. I hope that this and the abo ve matters can be 

worked out satisfactorily for all parties concerned. I r ealize that the 

church board does feel that this is a difficult situation , but I am sure 

that it will find the best solution to any of the developi ng problems. I 

am flattered to learn that Mr. Mitsuhashi and the Azava fa mily were laboring 

under the impression that the church board acted upon dec isions made by mej 

but as you will recognize, this is ridiculous since the Boa rd as represented 

by you is capable and competent enough to handle its own business] I 

wish that Mr. Aoki could made this clear tc Mrs. Azawa and t he other 

involved. If Mr. Mitsuhashi has discharged his duties as Hostel manager 
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fairly, then he should not be concerned with any feelin gs that his reputation 

is being smeared; but as I told him, that is something f or him to dear up 

with the Church Board since I knew nothing about the deta iled financial 

affairs of hostel management and that I was not active i n this matter as 

he believed up to last night. I hope you will be able to clari fy the situation 

with him since the hospital psychiatrists feel that it is o f paramount 

importance that he does visit Mrs. Mitushashi occasional ly for her future 

recovery, and Mr. Mitsuhashi will not do so as long as he feel s that I am 

actively working with you on an investigation of his host el management 

affairs. 

Very truly yours, 

Confidential 

We visited Mr. Kinoshita for a couple of hours yesterda y and picked up 

f̂c the check which was repayment for a loan advanced by t he Mitsuhashis, and 

which Douglas had agreed that Mrs. M should get. Kinoshita  is the block 

manager of 74 at Gila whom Tom had seme fights with and I was very surprised 

to find out that it was the same person. He said that his daughters were 

grown up and going to college now. We also met a Mizutani an d his wife there, 

and they were interested in buying a cleaning shop so I gave  them the 

address of the shop and told them to look up Douglas. Kinosh ita said 

that he was the NY representative for a commercial firm of Japan, and he 

spoke in glowing terms of how much money he would make in f oreign trade. 

It seems that quite a few Issei and Nisei have ideas of making fortunes 

and they are rushing to get positions in this field. Sane wi ll make money, 

but I doubt if there will be room for all the thousands w ho have these big 

ideas. Trade won't be opened up until next spring and all the profits 

• which Kinoshita talked about is Just on paper. Mrs. Ki noshita asked 

about Mrs. M and said that she would like to go up and visit her sometime. 
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Kinoshita wanted to know If there were any rich men I knew who would sponsor 

publishing a book for him. He said that he kept a Journal while he was 

interned, and it told of how it felt to be in that positio n. His inference 

was that no Nisei could ever put down feeling like an Issei . He tried to 

convince us that Americans tortured many Japanese citiae ns to death during 

the war, and he learned these tales while in internment . He said that 

this happened in Panama where some Japanese citiaens we re rounded up and 

put into slave labor gangs and same were beaten to death. Like most Issei, 

he is still convinced that Japan was wronged in this war, a nd he puts it on 

a race basis.  Mfy-  only reaction now is that I'm glad that I don't live in a 

Japanese community. His wife served drinks, and in true J apanese fashion 

only the men present got it and Yuriko and the other girl  get served limeade 

This was quite frustrating for Yuriko. Mrs, Kinoshita sat  in the corner of 

the room and only spoke when Mr* Kinoshita spoke to her. 

Afterwards we went over to the Hostel and spoke to Peter, He s aid 

that the church board had made a mistake in taking t he rice without Mr. 

Mf s consent, but that the checks would be made out tomorro w. He said that 

there were only minor errors found in the books of the ho stel after that 

$160 shortage was made up, but Mr. Muller needed the sales slip in order 

to make his own books balance. I thought that Mailer only  needed a sales-

slip from Douglas saying he sold it to the church board, a nd it did seen 

that Mailer is still suspicious that Douglas used the chu rch funds to buy 

the rice in the first place) but Peter said that this was  not the case and 

that it was simply a business matter. I hope so, Peter a lso thought that 

Mrs. M, would be paid her vacation money but I should conta ct Muller about 

it. Peter said that he had explained to Mrs. Aaawa the r eason why she was 

being dismissed, but he would do it again so that she would  not have any 

distorted ideas. Peter felt that Mrs. A. and the rest wou ld believe what 
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they wanted too, and ha was conscious of the fact that the y were trying hard 

to smear his name. He said Kind, would be paid as soon as the tax slips 

were made out. So it looks like all the main points have been  straightened 

out* 

It was Peter's belief that Douglas was yelling much too h ard and that 

Douglas was causing all the difficulty upon himself by do ing this, and that 

it seemed to be a projection of some guilt feelings* Pet er said that the 

church board was not trying to prosecute Douglas for any thing because the 

books were straight now, and there was no proof even if he  personally thought 

there had been some mismanagement* Peter said that it wou ld be difficult to 

force Douglas to move out because (l) housing shortage  and (2) beoause 

Douglas has some sort of idea that if he moves out, it wi ll prove that he 

was in the wrong, while if he stays there the other peop le will think injustice 

had been done as Peter and the Church Board have not made any pu blic state-

ments and Mr* M. is doing his best to convince people* Peter sa id that most 

of the Issei blame Douglas for Mrs. M's illness as they think that his 

running away to California to get married precipated it, and Douglas has 

been trying hard to save his face by diverting all the at tention to the 

Church Board persecuting him for nothing. Douglas has a cha rming way of 

convincing people too. I told Peter that I did not want to get any of the 

marital business or personal affairs mixed up with Host el business beoause 

I was not interested in getting Douglas into jail, and  all I wanted was to 

see justice done for Mrs* M* Peter said he had made a mistak e in telling 

Hugh Nozawa something about the investigation of the bo oks, and Douglas 

has used this as the basis for proclaiming that ho is being  wrongly persecuted* 

The strange part of this whole thing is that I have to b ack Douglas on 

the rice business in order to protect Mrs. M f s, interests. I told Peter 

that I was doing this and I did not want him to think that I was active 
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in any hostel feud against him. To show our sincerity in th is, we went to 

dinner with peter. During dinner, we discovered that Pete r was a very 

lonesome young man with a terrific inferiority complex a nd we felt so 

sorry for him» He doesn't know what he will do after the host el Job is 

ended, but thinks he might go to school to learn about Community Organi-

sation« Peter graduated from U.C. about 1953 and he held a  minor state 

civil service Job before the war. 
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Confidential: 

In my phone conversation with Mr* Mailer I was very much s urprised 

at his reactions. He said that Mrs* M. had been paid In ful l and that 

she had no vacation money coning. Mailer's point was that Mr. M. took the 

vacation & Mrs. M* should have taken it at the sane time so that the Church 

Board had no further responsibility. I pointed out to him that the Church 

Board had only provided half a replacement so that Mrs * M. couldn't go 

anyway* Mr* Muller said he was just fed up with the whole t hing, and as 

far as he was concerned he didn't want to have anything more to do with this 

situation* I said that regardless of being angry that the  Hostel ended up 

In such a mess, it was not fair to penalize Mrs* M. when she wa s not here 

to defend herself* I pointed out that it did not seem just that all the 

other hostel employ- en got paid for their accumulated va cation time while 

Mrs* M* did not* Mailer said she was paid in full & that was that. 

Muller also said that he was still not sure if the rice m oney would be 

paid either* He said that he received Mr. M's sales slip , but anyone could 

have made it up* I said I knew that Mr* M. did buy the rice so Muller said 

that definite proof would have to be provided. 

So now, it looks like Mrs. M is going to be out t200, and all because 

the Church Board is angry at Mr* M* It doesn't make sens e to me, and I 

am unable to figure out why they are penalising Mrs. M fo r something she 

was not involved in* I suspect that all the Azawa demands for payment of 

vacation money probably exasperated them very much* It's a funny world, 

and it burns me up because Muller is projecting his irrita tion to the wrong 

source. 

I dropped in on Douglas to tell him about the rice and he was very angry 

as he thought that it would be cleared up by now. He said that Mailer is 
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practically saying that he stole the funds from the Host el to buy this rice 

and he said he was going to sue. I suggested that he get a nota rised state-

ment from the person he bought the rice from is a duplicat e sales slip was 

not available and that I would try to contact Rev. Harrin gton after Labor 

Day to discuss the matter with him, as well as take up the m atter of the 

vacation pay for Mrs. M. Douglas is convinced that Mull er is a big crook. 

With this new development I have to side with Mr. M. since $ 200 is involved 

for Mrs. M. I still cannot understand why Mr. Muller lied to me when he 

said that Douglas had been informed the the sales slip subm itted was no good 

since Poter told me by phone that Muller had told him Just the opposite. I 

think that what Muller is doing now is just thinking of everything in terms 

of dollars and cents and he wants to gyp Mrs. M. instead of being just with 

her and I just cannot understand this attitude—just lik e Mr. Ishiraaru's in 

regard to the cleaning shop. 

I told Douglas that we know of a person who was intereste d in buying 

the shop. Misutani is his name; he is a young student who pr esses on the 

side and he wants to buy a shop so that he can put his fathe r in it. I 

told him that the shop was avilable for $2500 to $3000. Douglas figures 

that it is worth that much and one family owning it could  make about 

of the investment each month, plus having rent free two ro om apartment in 

the back. If that is the true net income, Mrs. M. should ha ve been 

receiving twice the dividends she has been receiving, bu t I didn't say 

anything about that because there is no proof and I coul dn't do anything 

about it anyway. Further, it would be easier for Dougla s to arrange for the 

sale of the shop since I would not know of any contacts and it was just 

accident that we met Mizutani over at Kinoshita's yesterd ay. 
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I registered for the F&ll term today. This is the next to l ast week of 

classes, and they have not been too exalting for me. T he only class I 

really did enjoy was Dr. Llndeman's social philosophy . We have been discuss-

ing what makes up a democratic state, and this is illustr ated with contemporary 

problems, I have to get started on my thesis project soon  since I would like 

to complete the major portion of it before the Fall term sta rts, Yuriko 

has been working very hard at the studio, and she has two m ore weeks of her 

sohool. She said that she has taken on a couple more privat e students, but 

I hope that she does not overwork herself. She thinks tha t we need the 

extra income because we won't be making much next month , and our expenses 

have gone up lately because of going up to Pilgrim twi ce monthly. We have 

done well financially, and my only concern is that we wo n't have any housing 

crises now, Mrs, Ohta has been strangely silent, but we understand that she 

is up in the country for the summer. I won't be working u ntil next spring 

so that we have to depend largely upon Yuriko's salary. L ast night we talked 

until quite late about plans for the future and we are very optimistic under 

the circumstances. I think that when I finally do get workin g we will be 

in a much better position to think in terms of the future . We felt that 

at least we were going ahead. Yuriko said that when she first came to NYC, 

she worked so hard that she got ill for a month, and it took a long time 

for her to get out of debt. She never did make any money on d ancing until 

last year. I don't want her to think that she has to work so hard in order 

to support me. She asked if I would get jealous if she mad e more than 11 

I hardly think soj Yuriko needs a winter coat but she has been holding off 

in hopes that the price would come down, and next spring C ongress may take 

off the  2J0% luxury tax. 

I got very ambitious when I came home this afternoon so I did all of 

the accumulated laundry. Yuriko seems to be able to kee p full control of 
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the apartment even though she is working so much at the st udio. She wondered 

if I ever felt that I was caught in a trap because of all o f the things which 

are happening, but my answer was that things do happen in life and we do have 

love which is the most important thing so that she shou ldn't worry about me 

too much. She said that I have been spending so much time on the compli-

cations of the M's that I don't have much time to do school w ork. But, 

there is nothing like getting practice in social work. We will not have 

dinner until late as this is the evening that Yuriko gi ves an evening class. 

She seems to have quite a few students for the sumirier s ession so that 

Martha certainly won't be losing any money. Rumor has it t hat Martha 

married Erick, that they bought a car, and they drove to Cal ifornia for 

their vacation. Yuriko is starting to worry about her Fal l concert as she 

wants to give it before the company starts up again but t he music has not 

been written yet. The music costs $10 per minute to compose  so it had better 

be good. 
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I was so tired this morning that I had a very difficult tim e in keeping 

awake* It was very humid, but by noon it started to rain and  now it is 

nice and cool like S«F« weather« We met at Miss  Hurlbutt' 8  apartment in 

the morning as she strained her back while up in Massachusett s last weekend 

and she wanted to avoid any strain on herself so that she would be able to 

drive up to Smith College to teach her class later this we ek« She said 

that she was using one of my papers for her class« We wi ll meet with Miss 

Hurlbutt * s  other seminar group next Wednesday evening to discuss th e pros 

and cons of seotarian social agencies and she premise s to serve us beer« 

Although Miss Hurlbutt is not a very stimulating instruc tor, I seem to 

enjoy the content of her courses the most« We have been d iscussing the 

cultural implications in social case work in our seminar with her« 

This noon I had lunch with Mr« Rose and we started talking a bout the 

course we have together« I was surprised to hear him expr ess many of the 

sentiments I have felt about the school« He said that it w as a good thing 

that there were so many ex-GI's in the school as it wou ld force the faculty 

to make some drastic ehanges in the curriculum. He said t he main difficulty 

was that these instructors have been so used to teaching n ewly graduated 

oollege students that they tend to be very naive in thei r approach and 

that "they are covered with moss so that they can't seem to g et rid of their 

academic conservatism«" Rose felt that it was a shame that  the school did 

not offer any courses in social action« He felt that the f aculty was too 

involved with the psychoanalytical orientation that they j ust ignored the 

social, economic, cultural, political factors; and tha t this was very danger-

ous because it had reactionary implications. For exam ple, he said, the 

sohool teaches that the first five years of life shapes t he complete person-

ality and the implications are that there is no use i n doing anything about 
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Juvenile delinquency. I agreed  fcith  Rose that this was why I find it difficult 

to completely accept the school approach as this school,  more than other 

social work schools, tends to just patch up on our social  structure without 

doing anything about it just as long as the social worker can understand the 

individual personality and it motivations and all of it u nresolved Oedipus 

complexes and so forth* Rose said he had five years of soc ial work experience 

and it was a bit frustrating for him so that was the reaso n why he has 

shifted into community organisation« He felt that the NT School was so 

involved with its phoney reputation that it was not going ahead, and that 

the school was the center of reactionary forces in trying to  perpetuate 

the private social agencies when the only hope for the fut ure was in public 

agencies with governmental responsibility* He said the re ason for this was 

because most of the funds for school support came from p rivate agencies in 

this city, and the Board of Trustee were all big shots in t he private 

agency field* Rose said that one of the things which irri tated him was 

that social workers think that they understand all of the human motivations 

just because of a few psychoanalytically oriented courses , and that they txy 

to guide other peoples lives without recognising the impact of social and 

cultural forces on that personality* Rose felt that it w as useless to 

help a colored elient accept himself and not do anything ab out solving 

the economic-social conditions which caused the difficul ty to begin with. 

In mid-afternoon, I had a conference with my faculty advi ser, Mrs, Austin, 

again* I walked in and told her that there really wasn't a nything to discuss 

as I had made up my mind that I would remain at Psychiatric Institute for the 

next two quarters and that I was not interested in another  field work 

placement at this time* Mrs* Austin said that was fine, but she said that 

she wanted to be completely fair to me and tell me about t he other alter-
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native. She said that the International Institute would b e able to take one, 

possibly two, mature students for placement with excell ent supervision "About 

the best the school can offer," and would I want to thin] ; about that? This 

threw me into a state of great indecision, especially wh en Mrs. Austin said 

that I would also be able to apply some cultural concepts in  that agency 

even though the basic social work concepts were the same  in all placements. 

Mrs. Austin said that I need not have any feelings of guilt abo ut changing 

placements again, or think that I had been a failure at P.I. " because we 

would not even consider giving you an alternative if we th ought that you 

were a failure." Personally, Mrs. Austin felt that both pl acements were 

"flattering" and it would be difficult for her to make a ch oice under the 

circumstances. She said that I would not miss out on a thing,  but that I 

would be able to have a broader experience In social work tha n if I 

remained in the hospital setting. She said it would be de termined by what 

I wanted for myself—did I plan to work in a mental hosp ital? I said that 

I didn't think so, but I did want the psychiatric social work label just 

in case a good opening turned up. Mrs. Austin said that it would be 

psychiatric case work in the International Institute, bu t cultural orient-

ation would not be neglected. Then she spoke for a while abo ut why it 

might be a happier solution for me to remain where I was be cause it would 

give ne a continuity of supervision and I would be more ac quainted with the 

hospital setup and so forth. I just didn't know what to decide. Mrs. Austin 

said I should think it over until Friday, and perhaps disc uss it with Miss 

Heyman; but above all, I should not think that I would be e scaping as the 

International Institute placement would be just as diffi cult, and the only 

consideration was that I would be enjoying the work. Mrs.  Austin said 

that she realized that Mrs. M's illness would be upsett ing in a way, and 

that was a factor which had to be considered. 
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So this leave me very undecided and I can't make up my mind ri ght now 

because there are positives to both placements* Turiko f eels that I should 

follow my primary interest and change but it is not that e asy* 
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I had a fairly busy day interviewing some relatives« Thi s afternoon 

I went over some of the interview reports held by student s in the past, 

and I Just couldn't see where there had been any applic ation of the 

psychoanalytical orientation which Heyman talks about*  We have been told at 

school that social workers due not make such deep interp retations since 

we are not analyists, and that we just use the concepts to understand 

behavior dynamics better* It makes me sore to think that Heyman yelled so 

much about it, and I don't think that she had any basis  tor her points 

now* But it is too late to say anything, and I have been applyi ng some of 

the principles when I have the conferences with her and this satisfies 

her a great deal* 

A greater problem on my mind all day long has been on the decision 

which is facing me* I have to make up my mind tomorrow a bout whether I 

want to change agencies or not. I gave it a lot of thought th is afternoon 

and even wrote down all of the pros and cons* The biggest  blook in my 

mind about changing is that I think it might affect my evalu ation from 

Heyman, and she won't be completely objective about it b ecause she will 

feel that she has been rejected* On the other hand, I sti ll have some feel-

ings that it might affect future Job placements becau se of the prestige 

of PI as a placement* I can think of many more positive fa ctors in 

going to International Institute* It is such a hard thi ng to decide and 

I am still stewing about it* I want to be sure to weigh the w hole matter 

carefully from all angles* I think I will wait and talk t o Heyman about 

it and then I will be able to see what sort of reaction she ha s* I don't 

particularly like the idea of spending two more quarters un der her super-

vision and I do know that I will learn just as much about ca se work at 

the Int. Inst* I prefer a public agency setting for the futu re rather 

than a private one, and that is another problem* I thi nk that I should 
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follow through on my interest in cultural approach, but t here is some 

uncertainty about this in terms of the future job placeme nts* Oh well, by 

this time tomorrow I hope to have arrived at a definite d ecision* I now 

think back about how unhappy I have been about the psyc hoanalytical 

approach to case work, and that is why the Int. Inst* w ould be a swell 

opportunity for me as Mrs* Austin suggests. It is just the c ircumstances 

of the change which bothers me. 

Marge Lipchik wrote after a long silence. She just graduated from the 

U. of Pitts, this summer and won a scholarship to go stud y Spanish and 

Russian at tho U. of Havana. She hopes to study Russi an more at the 

U* of Miami, and eventually go to the Slavic countries t o do seme work. 

It doesn't seem like six years ago that she first started correspondence 

and talked about her beginning high school days and her i nterest in racial 

problems after reading Adaraic's book in one of her class es* She seems to 

have developed steadily during the intervening years. I' ve never seen 

her, but she was always talking of leaving Pittsburg an d she certainly is 

doing some traveling now. 
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When I went to see Hiss Heyman for my conference this mor ning I was 

still undecided about what I should do, but I was thinking  in terms of the 

age although I knew that there might be some reaction agai nst it. But I 

did not expect the response which Miss Heyman made« I had b arely outlined 

what the pros and cons of the two agencies were as I saw th e picture when 

Miss Heyman made a strong case for my not changing* It occur red to me that 

she was not making good use of the case work techniques when she tried to 

influence me so much. She didn't want me to leave the Psych iatric Institute, 

and practically said that I should stay. She stressed the continuity of the 

training and how I would get a better background in the psy choanalytical 

skills; and stressed a lot of the negative factors whic h had contributed 

to my indecision, such as, some feeling of guilt over l eaving* I felt 

that I had not really learned as much as she claimed, bu t she seemed to 

be very anxious for me to decide in favor of staying, I fi nally said that 

I would, but immediately I regretted it. By the end of t he conference, we 

had left the question open so that I could think about i t over the weekend. 

I felt that she put in me a tough spot, and I got the feeling that 

Miss Heyman felt threatened herself because it would no t look good for her 

if one of her students pulled out, especially when the scho ol had received 

some protests previously from several students about h er methods of supere-

vision. I didn't feel that she gave me the opportunity to present both 

sides as Mrs, Austin had done, I know that any deeislon to leave will 

affect the evaluation I get from Miss Heyman, but I have t o take the 

chance, I have to consider it from the point of view of whet her I think 

Miss Heyman has anything to offer me in case work skills  during the next 

two quarters and if I really want to follow through on m y cultural approach 

interest, I don't think that I am Interested in the more limit ed type of 

case work done in the hospital, but I also realise that the  International 
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Institute will hare some limitations too* I have been som ewhat mixed up 

about where I would fit into the job pictures since ther e are some agencies 

which would be closed on a racial basis and this is one limi tation which I 

have to recognise whether I lil.e it or not. It won't stop  me from apply-

ing, but it won't necessarily change the agency policy« 

I feel now that the Int. Inst, will not be as discouraging as the P.I. 

with its vague and limited funotions. My decision to stay at P.I. was 

intimidated because Miss Hey an increased my sense of guil t, which Mrs. 

Austin had minimised. I just couldn't bring out clearly to her that I 

didn't like her supervision methods so that there is a persona] element*. 

There are other students who have done very little work thi s quarter, but 

Tessie did not give them a bad time and they did not have an y of the 

difficulty I had with Heyman. The way I figure now, I re ally want to change 

agencies but I feel guilty about it so that negative factor s seem to be the 

strongest in influencing the decision to remain at P.I.  By monday I have 

tc make a decision and then reconcile myself to it. I've sm oked a lot 

of oigarettes today so I must have been disturbed about t he problem. 

On top of that, I ran into Mrs. M's doctor at the staff con ference and 

this makes an uncomfortable situation because I have been trying to keep 

school work and personal matters separate. 

On the way home, I talked to Green and Kaplan about this p roblem of 

mine, and I told them that Heyman will not give me my evalua tion until after 

I make up  my decision. They both felt immediately that Heyman was un fairly 

holding a club over my head which would force me to sta y on because they 

believe that she felt threatened and had personal feeling s in this matter. 

Green said that none of the new students under Berkman  had the same 

experience as I so they were sure it was a reaction to the su pervisor*— 

especially in view of the fact that Heyman has a reputati on of being very 



2850 

16 August 1947.  Saturday. 

"castrating" towards men students, I said that my evaluati on would probably 

not be any good anyway beoause of blocking about the psychoa nalytical ap-

proach» Green said the only way to handle it was to say I was going to 

stay until she made the evaluation, and then change min ds. But I don't 

have that much time» Kaplan felt the only other thing to do was to tell 

Heyman that it was a mature decision and I felt that I had to change for 

my own best interest, but to praise her for what I had go tten and then 

discuss the supervisory situation with Mrs» Austin» I j ust don't want to 

make it that personal. However, both Green and Kaplan felt  that Heyman would 

be unconsciously irritated that I would make a move to cons ider a change so 

that she might make it even more difficult for  rae  next quarter» Neither of 

them felt that I would be losing anything by a change. They s ympathize 

with me because they know how difficult it is to be super vised by Heyman 

from rumor. Green said that Heyman had a lot of unresol ved sexual conflicts 

and feelings about becoming an old maid so that she likes  to punish men 

because a career isn't giving her much happiness and sh e has not resolved 

her own problems satisfactorily. If only I had Tessie, I kn ow that my 

progress would have been much better but it's happened t his way and it is 

a serious problem for me, I have to build up  my resistance now so that 

Ml88 Heynan will not break down my points on Monday, Sc hool days'! 
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I got up early this morning with the ambition of getting s tarted on 

the outline of my thesis, but I didn't get too far* By the  time I went for 

my haircut and had lunch, it was already afternoon« Ue j ust reclined around 

reading the papers, and then we got talking so that it w as almost 11:00 PM 

before we got up to start dinner* 

Ue were talking about finances and our future status« As soo n as I 

get a job we can plan a bit more in terms of the future« We didn't know 

if we could ever save enough to buy a hone and have a fai rly good standard 

of living, but that is our aim* Ve are not ready to think i n terms of 

having a family since we do not have that much security yet,  and we are 

not prepared for such a step anyway« Yuriko said that we mig ht be able 

to save most of her income for the future after I got working , but when 

we figured it out, we discovered that it wouldn't be too muc h because our 

standard of living would go up and the oost of living i s not getting any 

lower« Por the present, we plan to remain in NYC, but we d on't know if it 

will be permanent or not« I said that it would be nice to ha ve a bit more 

security, and there was no reason why we oould not work towards this goal« 

I got a bit irritated for a while, because Yuriko said tha t she was more 

used to living from day to day, but later she said that she had learned 

the value of thinking more in terms of a long range plan so  that we could 

advanee ourselves even if slowly« Yuriko said I soared her by being gruff, 

so I had to get romantic for the rest of the evening—and tha t is why we 

never did get around to going to a movie or visiting frien ds as we had 

tentatively planned« Yuriko was very tired so that she ne eded the rest« 

Confidential* 

One of the knotty problems which will faoe us is what to do about Mrs, M* 

I thought that we should work on this problem since Mr* M  was going to do 

nothing and we should have sane sort of tentative suggest ion« Mrs« M« 
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bad written saying that she didn't want to sell the clean ing shop since she 

could live in back of it, but it was entirely unrealisti c and out of the 

question* I told Turiko that this was a difficult situat ion for her because 

I realised that she did feel some responsibility for her mother, but she 

should work out the decision in terms of her own feelings a nd not what she 

thought her mother might feel. I felt that Mrs. M. would b e very lonesome, 

but that would be the situation regardless of where she w as. Mrs. M. does 

not want to go to California now because she believes that it is part of 

the plot against her. We both felt that it would be an impo ssible situation 

to have Mrs. M with us since we didn't have anything in common with her, and 

that it would not be fair to us as a young married couple to b e burdened 

this much. I felt that we might be able to help Mrs. M. a bit fi nancially 

after I started to work) and it would be better for her to g et into a social 

environment with other Issei so that she would not brood. I  suggested to 

Yuriko that she start to speak to Mrs. M. about the future ev en though 

we do not know how long she will be hospitalized. It is jus t no use on 

counting upon Mr, M. since he is much too complicated to be of m uch help. 

I did think that Yuriko could speak to him about possible fr iends in Calif-

ornia who might help Mrs. M* in resettlement. Yuriko said sh e would write 

to Mrs. Sato and find out if there were any prospects in Los Angeles. 
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Confidential; 

We went up to Pilgrim Hospital today to visit Mrs. M. It was so hot 

going up, but we were eooled off a bit after we got on Long  Island. Since 

we were there a bit ahead of time, we sat out on the lawn a nd had a small 

lunch first. Yuriko is now used to the hospital so that th e yells and 

singing of the female patients does not bother her anymor e. Mrs. M. looked 

much better, and she had considerably more facial expr ession today. She 

was able to Joke about how she wanted to wash her bloomers , but the nurse 

thought she asked for a broom to clean the washroom. Mrs.  M. cleaned the 

washroom! She gets along with the attendents well becaus e of her willingness 

to work, and the other patients do not bother her anymor e as they are used 

to her. Mrs. M. still has some ideas of reference, and she still thinks 

that there has been a gigantic plot against her. Yuriko a nd I did some 

psychotherapy with her since the doctor rarely sees the pa tients in that 

hospital. Yuriko tended to do a bit too much interpreting to her mother 

at first, but I cautioned her to allow Mrs. M. to speak of her feelings 

freely so that she could get it out of her system. 

Mrs. M. has now projected the cause for her hospitalizat ion to Joannie; 

she says that Joannie typed out something bad about her an d put it besides 

her when she was first taken to Bellevue, and this report wa s given to the 

patients who taunted her in mysterious ways, but they no longer do that. 

She said that the pressure of her head was caused by some mys terious 

influence of the "they" who were plotting against her. We f ound out that the 

"they" included Douglas, Joannie, the Azawas, Hata, Yosh io and the Ishimarus, 

with Joannie as the leader. Mrs. M. said that she now sle eps well, eats 

good, and does not worry so much. She is less tense, and she h as participated 

in all of the ward activities. She even wants to learn E nglish and asked 

Yuriko to get her a dictionary and a reader. 
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Mrs. N« said that instead of feeling sorry for herself , she now gets 

angry when she thinks of Douglas and Joannie. She wanted to  know If 

Joannie was pregnant. We didn't tell her that they got m arried, but we 

prepared her a bit for it by pointing out how complicat ed Douglas was 

getting. Mrs. M. smiled and said that he was a weak perso n, and she added 

that she worried so much about the hostel because he did not do the work 

efficiently. She said that the Aaawas were always eating extra food 

without paying for it and this caused her a great deal of worry because 

she wanted to balance the food budget at the hostel, an d she repressed 

all of these things inside of her and she felt sure that this contributed 

to her illness. She said that she got so confused she h ardly knew what she 

was doing. Now, Mrs. M. feels that she no longer has to wor ry about 

the problems which Douglas creates so that she is much fre er. It seems 

that she has taken a step in the direction of gaining som e insight into 

what happened to her emotionally, but she is not ready to give up her 

projections yet. It is unfortunate that the psychiatrist s have so many 

patients that they are able to do very little psychother apy. 

I felt that Mrs. M. still had considerable inner disturb ance, which she 

is still covering up but she is getting to be a bit more rea listic and her 

depressive stage is not as acute as formerly. Sometimes I have the 

feeling that maybe she only went through an anxiety dep ressive reaction 

instead of having a psychotic breakdown. She has improved g reatly in the few 

weeks she has been up there. I talked to Dr. Jacovy and h e said that he was 

going to present Mrs. M's case in staff conference on T uesday and it might be 

likely that she would not need any shock treatment. I told h im what I had 

observed in talking to Mrs. M as he said that it was diffic ult to make herself 

understood and he could not decide how deep rooted the il lness was. He said 

that from the partial testing given Mrs. M, that she was a very intelligent 

woman and he thought that the prognoses was more promising n ow, but he could 
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not actually toll* He felt that if I could continue to ta lk with Mrs« M« 

and stress the positives, it would help her come out of her d epressive 

stage that much faster« Most of ny discussion with Dr.  Jacovy was quite 

informal. He said that he saw me at the P.I. Staff conferenc e and wanted 

to know  ray  opinion of the case presented. I said that I thought seme o f 

the interne psychiatrists were prone to read too many t hings into an Illness 

and make the symptoms much more deep rooted than they act ually were. Dr. 

Jacovy said that this was true, but that most of the state hospital psychia-

trists did not go deeply into the oedipal situation becau se they did not have 

the time to do much psychoanalytical work. I said that it was practieally a 

crime for student social workers at P.I« not to use the stri ct psychoanalytical 

orientation, and Dr. J. laughed and said that this was beca use it was a 

training school, but that in actual work there was not t hat much time to go 

so deeply into a case, and he implied that too many dist orted freudian inter-

pretations were made anyway  by unqualified social workers who wanted to be 

analylsts. He thought it was a crime that social worker s were paid so poorly 

and said that one of his wife's friends was also at the N«I . School of Social 

work« 

In our visit with Mrs« M« we did talk a bit about her future plans and 

encouraged her to express her feelings a bit« Mrs. M« said that she now would 

like to go to California. She felt that Issel had more of a chance in getting 

a job there, and she planned to work hard for about fou r years and save enough 

so that she could return to Japan and retire among her re latives. She pre-

ferred to go to L.A« as she said she would have too many soci al obligations 

if she went to San Jose where she had some friends. Mrs« M f elt that she 

would forget about Mr« M. and not count upon his help at all beoause she knew 

that she could not rely upon him. We encouraged her to forget about the past 
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and think only of the future. Mrs* M. said that we should ref use to take 

Choco because she wanted Douglas to realize how much that d og tied her 

down. Mrs. M. felt that she would be ready to leave the  hospital in three months, 

and Yuriko encouraged her to think of it in terns of a vacatio n and try to keep 

as aotive as possible. Mrs. M. said that she went to all of the hospital 

events. She said that she did not care to have Douglas co me and visit anymore 

because he was such a weak person, and she did not want an y of the hostel group 

to visit her. She said that she would like to see Mr. Us ami since they had 

a plan at one time to open up a bird business in Californi a. If Mrs. M. 

continues to improve she may be able to leave the hospita l by this winter or 

maybe in the spring. The doctor had no idea since he sti ll doesn't know how 

deep rooted Mrs. M's illness is and he felt that it would help her to be in the 

protective security of the institution for a while in order to help her get 

over her fears. Her future is going to be a problem thou gh because she still 

has a basic insecurity of many years standing, and she is all alone now. 
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When I told Mies Heyman that it was  my decision to make the change in field 

work placement to Int. Inst., she put a lot of pressur e on for me to change my 

mind. She began to state all of the positives and said sh e would regret it 

very much if I did change. I told her that I felt it was a nat ure decision 

and I felt that I should act upon it. Miss Heyman said that I had made much 

progress and there was no doubt that I could become a ver y good social worker. 

However, she did not think I should put too much stress on t he "cultural 

stuff" in casework and I just didn't care to enter into a di scussion of that. 

Miss Heyman aoted real nice and said that it was pleasin g to her to see how I 

was steadily Improving in my case work skills. I just co uldn't bring out to 

her that I didn't care much for her supervision becau se my evaluation was at 

stake. I told her that it was a very difficult decision to m ake and I might 

regret it later on, but I honestly felt that I was actin g in terms of future 

job prospeots which I could find better at Int. Institu te. I discussed the 

overall job situation and pointed out that there was so me insecurity because 

of the residence requirements in state jobs so that either  way it would not be 

easy. I pushed all of the positives I could in telling he r that this had been a 

good experience for me regardless of the evaluation she gave me. Miss Heyman 

said that I had done well except for the "blocking" about t he use of the 

psychoanalytical orientation in case work. I told her that I expected to pick 

up a lot more of it in the remaining two quarters at school, a nd that I would use 

the time profitably. Miss H. warned me against the use of "too much of the 

sociological and cultural" approach since it was not in g eneral use in social 

work, but I said that the psychoanalytical data was in th e same position ten 

years ago. I felt that I had to act upon the basis of my  real interests, and 

I did not expoct to work in a hospital altho I did have some hopes of getting 

into the V.A. because of the high salary range it paid in comparison to other 
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social work jobs» 

In the afternoon, Miss H* again called me in to find out if I had changed 

ray mind & I said that my decision was now clear and I would take my chances 

upon it* She said that she now realized I had acted in a ma ture manner and 

that perhaps I would get more out of the cultural approach  and also that it 

was unfortunate that a personal disturbance about Mrs* M's illness had upset 

my work, and she wished me luck in the new placement; but she was still dubious 

about it giving ma good training in the basic psychiatri c skills. I don't 

know why she is so defensive about my leaving unless sh e has some guilt 

feelings about not being quite fair to me this quarter, and this makes her 

feel threatened* I told her that I had not discussed any personal motivation 

with Mrs, Austin and that I didn't Intend to be oritioal o f her supervision* 

This seems to be such a great point with Miss H* so she must have some feelings 

about it* It i3 too late now to go back and try over agai n* I'm sure that 

if I had Tessie for a supervisor there would not have been all this compli-

cation, One of the other students is not getting an evaluati on this quarter and 

he is most upset about it because he feels that Miss H* put u nfair pressure 

upon him* There is so much subjectivity to supervision b ecause social work 

is not a well established science and personal bias does e nter into any 

criteria* It is practically heresy to express any doub ts about psychoanalysis 

in the N*7* School, and perhaps I should have accomodated myself to that sooner 

because Miss H* Certainly doesn't like anyone to have  the  slightest doubt about 

the use of this technique in  social u>rk*  In thinking back over the whole thing 

several factors entered into my decisioni cultural in terest; job prospects; 

some difficulty with psychoanalytical approach which wil l be minimized at 

Intr* Inst*; personal reaction to Miss H* and her threaten ing, punishing 

technique of supervision without giving me too much pos itives; some distur-
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bancs about Mrs« M's illness) general dissatisfaction w ith the vagueness of 

this agency's function for social service. 
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Confidential 

We got a notice from the hospital today asking us to fil l out a form 

declaring our financial status in order to determine how  much Yuriko should 

pay monthly for her mother while she is in confinement t here« Under the 

N.Y. State Law Yuriko is a legally responsible relative, b ut I don't know 

how flexible this law is in operation« In many cases, relativ es do not have 

enough of an income to pay anything at all, while others pa y up to $60 

monthly« The welfare laws recognises the fact that relati ves cannot be 

forced to pay for support, but I don't know if the Depart ment of Mental 

Hygiene operates in a similar way or not« In any oase, we are not in any 

position to pay anything since we are only making our budget right now, and 

next month we won't even meet it because both of our income s will be much 

more restricted« 

In a way the whole procedure is very unfair, and Douglas will  probably 

not want to help us very much despite the promises he has made« Actually, 

I don't think that Yuriko would have to pay anything since she is married and 

I am not financially responsible. In this state, cases  of this sort are pretty 

well drained of all assets before the state will assume s upport and give 

medical care« It is going to be quite a problem for us, an d it will certainly 

place a severe burden upon us« It is so unfair that Dougl as will be able to 

shift the responsibility completely upon our shoulders, but there is nothing 

we can do about it« We could completely reject any respo nsibility for Mrs« M«, 

but that will not solve anything* I suppose that we will b e able to manage 

until I get a job, but it won't be as easy as it has been up to now. We will 

just have to cut down on the less essential things in the even t that we 

have to pay part of the hospitalisation costs. I shall write to the hospital 

and explain that we cannot do very much. Later on, we ar e anticipating that 
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we will be pressured into the direot planning for Mrs. M's f uture and there isn't 

much sense in trying to avoid it. In some ways it is such a difficult matter, 

but I guess we are not the type of person who would comple tely wash his hands 

of the whole thing in order to avoid personal discomf orts. The only thing 

which we cannot do is to take Mrs. M to live with us becaus e it would create 

too many uncomfortable situations for us, and I refuse t o have this sort of 

interference into our marital life because we have to  live our lives too. 

This matter is upsetting to Yuriko because she feels tha t it is unfair to draw 

me into such a situation, but that is the way life goes a nd there isn f t any 

solution in getting irritated about it. Some solution alway s works out in 

time, even though it may seem like a very difficult proce ss. 

I just got home from school a while ago; it has bear stormin g for over an 

hour but it is still hot and stuffy. We have been having an other heat wave 

recently. I just don't react to any of my classes anym ore and I'm glad that 

tomorrow will be the last day. I don't think that I have learne d too much even 

though I did apply myself much more this quarter than the l ast one. The only 

class I really enjoyed was social philosophy. 

Last night Michiko dropped in and she was here for dinner , and later we 

played cards. Michiko just came back from visiting her moth er and relatives 

in Minnesota for a month. She had quite a problem on her min d which she wanted 

to talk about, and she succeeded in working out a plan be fore she left. It 

seems that she has been waiting for definite word from Sh ubert about a 

specialty Japanese dance he wanted her to do in a play he p lans to produce on 

Broadway called "A G.I. in Tokyo." However, Michiko isn't sure chat he will 

put it on this season. She is quite anxious to get into it  because she would 

get up to $360 a week if it became a hit, and she has been e xcited about the 
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prospects ever since spring. However, she won't get defini te word until about 

two more weeks. In the meantime, she is broke and yesterd ay she got an offer 

to get into Devi DJa's company. It would only pay $75 week ly while it toured 

this winter but Michiko would like the idea of doing some trav eling. Devi 

DJa wants an immediate answer and this put Michiko on the  spot. She talked 

the whole thing over with us, and finally decided upon Yu riko's suggestion 

that she try to stall Devi DJa off for two weeks and then t ry to hurry Shubert 

into making a decision, We told her that she shouldn't act anxious, but play 

hard to get since it would be difficult for them to find  another person with 

her looks who could do Japanese dances, 

Michiko is still Involved in pursuing a dancing career b eyond anything 

else, and Yurlko was telling her that she used to feel the same way, but since 

marriage life has assumed a larger perspective, Mlchl̂ c s aid that her mother 

has always been ambitious for her to gain fame, and somet imes she feels like 

giving up. In fact, Michiko says that now she is think ing about getting married 

some day and perhaps she would give up dancing altogether, I had to pump her 

for quite a while before she would make this admission. The reason I did 

talk to her seriously about her personal adjustments was be cause Michiko has 

been very much mixed up and she hibernates, but gives the excuse that she has 

to devote all of her time to dancing. She lives along up the street, Michiko 

said that her mother calls her "money eater" and won't hel p her out anymore, 

Michiko is the next to the youngest in a large family, an d she had been reared 

under quite strong Japanese cultural Influences, She sa id that she didn't begin 

to break away from her mother until she oame out here. Fo r a while her mother 

lived with her, but Michiko couldn't stand it because  her mother expected 

her to devote all of her time to keep the old lady from gettin g lonesome, 

Michiko describes her mother as a self oentered, hypochron diacal person, 
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who apparently never made good marital adjustments« T he father is now in 

California, but the mother refuses to go back there so t ravels from one 

offspring to another and supports herself with her army a llotment--one of 

the sons is in Japan and he may stay there after he gets o ut of the army since 

he married a Japan girl and may not be able to bring her back,  Michiko seems 

to have broken away the most from this cultural hold of h er family even though 

she still feels very attached to them in many respects* H er younger sister 

desperately wants to come to NYC to live the "glamorous 11 life which Michiko 

leads among the bohemians of Greenwich Village, so she bel ieves Michiko told 

a little bit of her romance with a kibei boy which was bro ken up because he 

refused to allow her to have a dancing career, and this disi llusioned her 

against all Kibei (and Nisei) and now she goes out only wit h caucasions (very 

rarely) and thinks she is interested in one who is in the th eatrical world. 

Michiko says her sister feels the same way about marriag e, and Michiko wonders 

what her mother's reactions would be if she did marry a eau casion. It probably 

won't be as bad as it would have been five years ago becaus e there are more 

intermarriages and the Nisei have broken so many of the p arental bonds. And 

in Japan many oaucasian GI f s have married native Japanese so that the Issel 

here think of it In terms of prestige more than a tragedy now« Michiko thinks 

we are trying to get her married off, but she is interest ed* The fact that 
« 

she could not admit that she was interested In marriage is an Indication that 

she is resolving some of her personal problems. I felt tha t if we could get 

her to express more of her feelings and attitudes, it woul d help her to feel 

more secure about herself, Michiko never makes a move about  her dancing plans 

until she comes and consults Yuriko about it, and it wa s the first tine that 

she opened up and discussed some of her inner problems. Mi chiko is 24, a very 

attractive girl in an Oriental way, rather withdrawn in p ersonality, strongly 
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oriented to Japanese culture in some of her mannerisms,  can be lively when 

she relaxes (like imitating Bette Davis), claims that sh e had an unhappy 

childhood, identifies strongly with her father but this i s not recognized 

by her, and she is generally inhibited. She seems to feel m ore secure around 

Caucasians than Japanese. She lives in the same buildi ng as Teiko Ito and 

thoroughly dislikes that Japanese dancer, but not bec ause of any sense of 

competition or rivalry since Teiko is retired now. Michik o is not too socially 

conscious, and the bright lights seem to attract her. 

All evening long, Yuriko was so lovey-dovey with me, and the reason finally 

came out when she innocently asked if I would have been i nterested in Michiko 

if I had not met her firstI And Yuriko became suddenly consc ious that she 

didn't make up at home all the tine. I snorted that Michiko wa s not my type, 

and I guess I had to be stuck with Yuriko. She was so cat e about the whole 

thing—these women and their female tactics. She bragged about me to Michiko, 

and I bet Michiko was wondering how Yuriko could be 30 pr oud of a lump of fat. 

While in Chicago, Michiko said that she read in a languag e paper that 

Mrs. Mari Taki, sister-in-law of Yuriko Amemiya, visit ed friends in Los Angeles! 

What lengths Mariko will go to in order to get reflected g loiyi It made us 

laugh so much, it was pitiful in a way that Mariko had to g o to such length 

to get compensation ¿or a generally frustrated life. Po or George was all we 

could say, and we visioned him waiting hand and foot upon Mar iko when and if she 

gets pregnant. They have been on a six weeks vacation up a nd down the coast in 

their oar, the plutocrats. 
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I vent to the last of my classes for this quarter today, and was relieved 

that it was over* In looking back, I have to admit that I di d absorb some 

knowledge, but it also made me anxious to got out of school and go to work* 

I think that it is about time for me to quit being a stude nt and face the 

reality of life. I can't go to school forever, anu I am jus t about fed up 

with the process now* 

This evening, I attended a joint seminar at Miss Hurlbut t's apartment, and 

it was a very stimulating session. We discussed the pros a nd cons of sectarian 

social agencies and the group went at it hot and heavy for a couple of hours» 

I was able to participate freely because this sort of d iscussion interests me 

much more them talking about psychoanalytical dynamics  and speculating on 

how to fit everyone into these concepts. We had represe ntatives from Catholic, 

Jewish, and Protestant agencies, and the Catholic rep resentative seemed to 

be the most conservative and defensive. Most of the group felt that a sectarian 

agency should not have a policy of all-out indoctrination of its religion or 

culture to the exclusion of the social service it might per fonn. X proposed 

that cultural values could be recognized within the fram ework of a public 

agency even though it had not been tried yet. There were two g roups of 

Jewish studerts there, the left and right winders and they e ntered into some 

heated words about the value of clinging to their cultur al past or not: it was 

called escapism by those who were more in favor of integra tion. It was 

generally agreed that cultural pluralism and cultural di versity offered the 

best solution of minority groups, but a few of us questio ned whether this 

movement arose out of democratic experience or out of re actionary conservatism 

which is going on all around us in most areas of living. 

Michiko spent the evening over here. She came over to t ell us that she 

phoned Shubert, and that he told her that he was going to  produce the play in 
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late November and asked her to stick with hin instead of going on tour. Michiko 

is quite excited at the prospects since she will be able to get recognition and 

make some money too. Turiko asked if she should try to ge t on Broadway now, but 

I said that she should do whatever gave her the greatest amount of satisfaction. 

Turiko has been resisting going commercial in her danci ng, and I think that she 

gets the most satisfaction out of it so I wouldn't want he r to change if it is 

going to cause confliot for her. Michiko said that things w ere picking up since 

she got her old job back making theatrical costumes so t hat she will only have 

the rest of this week to rest. 

Turiko was quite tired because this is the last week of he r summer dance 

school, and she did have a very successful program. She  may lose one of her 

Selznick dancing  s budents  since the Selznick company lost a lot of money in the 

promotion of the stincker "Duel in the Sun" and some of the starlets are being 

dropped—Ann Lindsay being one of them. Turiko said that Ann is going back into 

modelling and she is going to continue taking lessons from  Turiko because she 

got so interested in modern dancing. 
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This is the last day for field working, and everyone is re laxing after 

some heotic work in firishing up recording. People are  not very ambitious today 

because of the party last night. It didn't break up unt il about 1:00. I didn't 

go to the dinner because Yuriko had to teach, and it wa s just as well we didn't 

go since the Jumbo Cafe was not large enough to seat all the group together. 

The American Legion is in town for its convention and they have crowded all 

of the plaoes. Most of the Legion members are from W. War I, but they act as 

if they won the last war and the Legion is now yelling for un iversal military 

training and how Russia is such a menace. It is groups like th is which starts 

wars. 

Yuriko anJ I walked down to Union Settlement on the lower e ast side where 

Maiy Ann has her apartment. We stopped a while to watch a terrific fight 

between two gypsy couples out on the street and everyone » yelling bloody murder. 

Yuriko said it made her heart pound because the fighting se emed so violent 

and for a while it seemed as if a riot would break out. K aplan and his wife, who 

Joined us, said that the gypsies were alwavs getting in to wild fights down there. 

It was a fight over a woman, I think. No wonder people don't g o to Madison 

Square Garden to see fights when these informal neighbor hood affairs are much 

more colorful. 

There were about thirty people present at the student u nit party,including 

the regular PI social service staff and it turned out to be a very nice affair 

and everyone seemed to enjoy themselves. We had plenty of liquor and that 

made the group uninhibited. Even the supervisors let thei r hair down and 

entered into the spirit of the affair. Tessie said that it  was the best student 

unit party she had ever attended. The group gave Tessie a go ing away present and 

she was quite proud of the copper earings and pin. Slows on, Furie, Herb Cahoon, 
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and Esterson kept the party going with their hilarious car rying on. A skit 

was put on showing a supervisory conference, and this made H erman squirm 

because it was a takeoff on the methods she used. Green and a c ouple of others 

then told Yuriko what a tough time Heyman gave me, and how glad  they wore to have 

Tessie as supervisor. 

Wo played Truth & Consequences with a strong sexual orient ation, danced, 

talked and so forth. The group entered into the spirit of th e occasion, I was 

dancing around with Tessie, Teiloni, Janet; and Yuriko was well taken care of 

by the  bo; s.  She made quite a hit with  thorn,  and Tessie told the group what a 

beautiful dancer Yuriko was. I played kissing games wi th Tessie and I paid 

a lot of attention to all the girls but Heyman. Yuriko sai d Heyman looked 

like a very cold type. Leilani said Heyman reacted to me a nd was watching me 

and Yuriko all evening. I guess I did ignore Heyman but I co uldn't feel 

informal around her and never could all quarter as she wa s so cold. Harold 

Esterson was quite struck by Yuriko and danced with he r every chance he got 

and they put on an exhibition. Janet said she didn't see H arold after he saw 

Yuriko. He didn't know that Yuriko was a dancer. Har old likes dancing and he 

did show a lot of graceful movement while dancing around.  We finally broke 

up the party about liOO, and the group here has been disc ussing the good time 

they had. It is not often that a group of social workers l et their hair down 

so much. 

I have a conference with Ileyraan this afternoon and I fee l a little guilty 

about it! She probably will tell me that I was hostile t o her last night. She 

is so insecure that she thinks (and asks) me if I had dis cussed my supervisory 

conferences with Tessie. I haven't said one word to Te ssie about ray relation-

ship with Heyman. Heyman is jealous of Tessie because she has been at PI longer 

and Tessie got the promotion so this probably added to He yman's feeling of 
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insecurity about herself as a supervisor. 

Later! I had my last conference with Heyman and she was nic e. She said I 

made very good progress this quarter, and hoped me luck.  She was quite 

impressed with Turiko. 
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Kenny brought over his thesis project this morningj he w rote on the commun-

ity organization process in the establishment of the Broo klyn* Kenny is all 

through with the school now, and after Labor Day he wi ll go right to work 

in the King's County Hospital clinic at $3000 a year. He di dn't sound too 

excited about the job but the salary suits him fine. He s aid that it was a 

new clinic set up by the city and he got the job through a fri end. Kenny 

didn't know how long he would stay in case work, but he th ought he would give 

it a year's try and then try to get into something else. W hen I told him 

about my field work placement change, he said he had a fri end who was working 

at Int. Inst, and that the agency was undergoing a c hange in philosophy at the 

present time. Kenny will be doing the same type of work wh ich I did at P.I., 

only he won't have a chance to do it so intensively since h is case load will 

be too large* He had the same feeling I had about doing "patc hing up 11 work 

in social work, and he felt that he would like to do somethi ng a bit more 

constructive but did not see any opportunity to find an outlet for it* Psychi-

atric social work is the "glamour" field for all of the ex-GI students since 

it pays the most, and Kenny felt that it would be developi ng too* I agreed 

with him, and told him that the main reason I was changing was  because I didn't 

think I was getting enough from my supervisor and I did n't like her methods* 

Kenny said that he had heard all about Heyman in his ag ency and all of the 

students over there were glad that they did not have any one like her* I 

congratulated Kenny on his new job, but he seemed to feel a bit insecure about 

it despite the good wage for a start* He said that he wan ted to remain in the 

city and this was the best Job order he could find and one of t he provisions was 

that he had to go to work right away* Kenny wondered if it wa s so wise to change 

my field into the cultural emphasis in social work since not many case work 

agencies were doing much about this approach, but that is t he chance I am taking* 
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1 felt that I should be happy in my work even if the opening s seem to  be,  vague 

and non-existent and the salary small. I Just don't feel li ke taking a boring 

job. Here I am thinking about the exact Job, when I don't eve n have any 

prospects yet] 

I read "Earth and High Heaven/ a novel of Canadian-Jewish re lationships 

until about 3|50 last night. Yuriko was very tired becaus e she had given 

extra dance lessons this week. She said that Clara wanted us to drive 

upstate with her and Charley next Thursday to watch the pl ay which Lamar is 

directing for Jane Cowl. Rhoda is back in town now and she  had a successful 

summer season, but she hasn't mentioned anything about re paying any of the 

$500 which she owes Turiko. Rhoda is going to live with Lam ar since Jimmy 

went to UCLA to be a stage manager for the playhouse there,  and she sayd this will 

be a trial marriage to see if things could work out for them. I guess the past 

year they have been more or less living together was not long enough of a 

period for her. Shirley is living with her Harvard instructo r who is one of 

those "existentialism" (?) queers. Melpo is marrying a s cion from a Pennsyl-

vania family, and she asked Yuriko about the facts of life . Ethel and Paul 

are still trying to convince her mother. 

We spent $21 in shopping today, half of it for liquor whic h we will save 

for Xmas, New Years and other special occasions. It was a liquor sale and we 

thought we would stock up since prices are going up  20% next week. It was the 

first liquor we bought this year. 


